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North of the Broad River

PREFACE

As we progress farther into the back country and along the smaller
streams, it becomes increasingly evident that we were wise in considering
the land and the people as an integral unit.The immigrant settler became so
much a part of the land and the land so much a part of the settler, that it
seemed impossible to consider one and not the other. From the land the settler
drew his life; never easy, never without danger, never without back breaking
labor. To this virgin land,he became the husband-- the true hushandiman.

As was so often the case, when his life was finished , the settler
and his family were laid to rest (n unmarked graves on his land. The cycle
was complete: he had repaid his debt to the land, To no future farmer

would this land have the same meaning.



Chapter 1

P-1 North of the Broad River

In the Forks of Crooked Run Creek and Little Cedar Creek

As recorded in the first volume of this study, Stephen Smith, the
Leitners,and the Gradicks were early settlers along the eastern bank of
Little Cedar Creek from its junction with Big Cedar Creek to its junction
with Crooked Run Creek, David Hamiter's place lay along the western bank
of Little Cedar Creek, and later became known as the Captain Whitworth place.
Captain Whitworth, a veteran of the Confederate Army, married a daughter of
David Hamiter,

Robert McCants and Nicholas Wirick were early settlers near the forks
of Little Cedar Creek and Crooked Run Creek:. Christian Hansminger
(Entzminger),William Mott, Mark Davies (Davis?),Christopher Davis,George
Freshley,Stephen Eleazer, James Mann, and John Geiger had land surveys
nearby.Jacob Bookman was to own much of this land at a later date, and

Oscar Fitzland Chappell owned much of this land in even more recent times,.

Mc CANTS

David McCants, in accordance with a precept issued on August 26,1736,
};nd 300 acres of land surveyed for him in Williamsburg Township,and the plat
was certified on April 25, 1737.130 had 250 acres of land laid out for him
in Williamsburg Township and a lot in the town laid out for him on March 28,
1740, 3

James McCants had 300 acres of land laid out for him in Williamsburg
Township in 1751, and 250 acres in 1752.3Jan.o Mc Cants made his will on

March 3, 1772, and it was proven a few days later on March 19,1772,

1-C.P.,Vol.18,P, =126,1737
2-_Ibid, P~ 125,1740
3-Ibid, Vol.5,P=160,1751/52
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His youngest son James and his son Thomas were named his executors. He had
five sons but only James and Thomas were nnmod.b

John McCants had 290 acres of land laid out for him on Catfish
Swamp in 1746, and 300 acres in two tracts on the Pee Dee River in 1757.5

John McChants(sic) arrived in South Carolina from Ireland on the ship
Lord Dunluce, and on January 6,1773, petitioned Council for 100 acres of
land. On the same date, Elizabeth McChants(sic),who had arrived on the
same ship,petitoned for 100 acres of land.6Both petitions were granted and
on January 6, 1773, John Bremar,Esq.,D.S5.G., issued warrants of survey.
John McCants had his 100 acres laid out for him on Twenty-Five Mile
Creek: bound on all sides by vacant land.Andrew McDowell, D.S. certified
his plat on February 11.1773.7 Elizabeth McCants had her 100 acres laid out
on Cedar Creek, Craven County: bound southeast on the land of Peter Bequets.
Andrew McDowell,D.S. certified her plat on February 11,1773.8

John and Samuel McCance(sic) arrived in South Carolina on board the
ship Hopewell, and on January 6,1773, petitioned Council for 100 acres of
land,each, Their petitions were approved and warrants of survey prcpar.d.9
Samuel McCants had 100 acres of land laid out for him on the southwest
side of Black Creek. The plat was certified on June 25, 1773.:>John McCants
had 100 acres surveyed for him on the northeast side of Sparrow Swamp and

10
the plat was certified on May 27, 1773, by Elias DuBose,D.S.

4=Moore, Wills, 1760-1784,P-170
5«C.P.,Vol,5,P=405;Vol.6,P=293,

6= Revill ,List of Protestant Immigrants,Pp,-121,122
7-C,P.,Vol.18,P-127

8- Ibid

9-Revill,List of Protestant Immigrants,P,-124

1N &« VUal 182 P 124 124
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There was an earlier Samuel McCants, who had 100 acres of land
surveyed for him on Bowers Mill Creek in 1766.u Thomas McCants had 100 acres
surveyed for him on the north side of Lynches Lake between the Santee and
Pee Dee Rivers in 1768. He had a second survey of land north of Lynches Lake
in 1773.12
Samuel McCants, of Turkey Creek, Sumter County, wrote a letter on
May 1, 1817, stating that he was too ill to travel and wished his potential
heirs to'"come down at once". Miss Jane McCants, also of Sumter County, had
her will recorded on August 24,1821, She left"all" to her friend Thomas
Pringle of Sumtcrv1110.13
William and Hannah McCants had the following children:
James - born August 21,1754
William= born December 25, 1756
Joseph= born January 18,1759
Thomas =born January 9,1761 8
Rachel McCants was the sister of Joseph Commander,and had a daughter
Elizabeth Dunnln.15
JOHN McCANTS of Fairfield County,Twenty-Five Mile Creek,was an
immigrant from Ireland, and arrived in South Carolina on the ship Lord Dunluce,

or on the Hopewell;but,most probably, the Lord Dunluce, just prior to 1773, He

made his will on January 14,1813, and it was proven on November 11,1813, He

11- C.P.,Vol.9,P=99

12« Ibid, Vol.9,P263;Vol.18,P-128

13« Sumter Will Book, Vol.l,Bk AA P-79;P-187,
14-58 ,C.H&G Mag.Vol .XXVIII, P=-28

15= Moore, Wills, 1760-1784,P-173

16~ F.P.C.,Apt, 11, file 89,
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and his wife Sarah had the following children:Robert, Samuel,John,William,
Alexander, George,Jermiah, Andrew, Jean (daughter),Amy, Sarah,Liddiah, Mary,
Margaret,and Rosey. He left his wife Sarah and his four youngest sons,
Alexander,George, Jeremiah,and Andrew; and his three youngest daughters,
Mary,Margaret and Rosey,the use of his plantation,the Negroes, stock and
farm implements,until they should come of age. To his sons,Alexander,
George, Jeremiah,and Andrew,he left the 150 acres of land adjoinig Samuel
McCants, To all of his children, in common, he left the 100 acres near John
Kelly. His son William to have the home place and 100 acres when all of

the children are grown. He named his son William McCants and Abner Ross
his executors.

John McCance( antique spelling), according to the 1790 census for
Fairfield County, had one free, white male over sixteen years of age;five
under sixteen; and five white,free females 1in his household. It is highly
unlikely that any of his children were able,or old enough ,to have had any
business transactions prior to 1800,

On September 15,1804, John McCants,of Twenty-Five Mile Creek, sold
William Armstrong the 100 acres of land thathad been granted him on
August 19,1774.17

John McCants served thirty days at the Congarees under Lt, Mitchell,
Captain Craig's Company,Colonel Taylor's Regiment; fifty days under Lt.
Smith at Orangeburgh; and twelve days under Lt, Trapp at Eutaw. He
received 6 pounds, 11 shillings and five pence,sterling, for the 92

days militia lorvico.ls

17- F.D.B.,Bk P,P=25,1804

18« Rev, War Records, S.C.Dept. Archives and History.
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Sarah Mc Cants, widow of John McCants, for $130,on January 12,1820, sold
John Kelly an. estimated 25? acres of land on Sawney Creek that had been
left to her by her husband. . Sarah McCants, formerly Sarah Hamilton, and
Nancy Hamilton sold John Kennedy their rights to the property of John Hamilton
for $61.60,on August 1,1815. This property consisted of 129 acres made up
out of 148 acres that had been granted to James Hamilton on May 7,1792,and
19 acres out of 640 acres granted to Jeremiah Pearson "on the drains of
Cedar Creek" on December 12, 1784: bound by the lands of Alex Robinson, James
Kennedy and Samuel Robinlon.zo

ROBERT McCANTS,on October 26,1804, paid Daniel Seal $240 for 50 acres
of land on Sawney Creek.This land was one-half of 100 acres that had been
granted to John Wilson. On May 28,1806,Alexander Crumpton sold Robert
McCants 350 acres of land on Sawney Creek for $175.This land had been
originally granted to John Burns, Sebastian and Sebrena Ruff witnessed the
deed, On August 5, 1808. Thomas McCants bought 100 acres on the north side
of Sawney Creek from Thomas Grigg for 3&00.21

Robert McCants, probably the eldest son of John and Sarah McCants,
died during the year 1815, His widow,Judith McCants, asked that Alexander
Crumpton and Samuel McCants be appointed administrators of her husbaud's
estate,stating that he had died on July 10,1815,Jacob Cloud, Sebastian
Ruff and Zach Crumpton appraised the chattel goods of Robert McCants for
$857, Asa Bell, minister at Twenty-Five Mile Batist Church read the

citation on September 17,1815, The names of all their children not known,but

19-F.D.B,,Bk BB,P-98
20-Ibid, Bk AA,P-388
21- Ibid, Bk G,P63;Bk G,P-215; Bk S,P-75
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they had a young son named John,who exacted a promise from his dying
father that he was to have a certain little mar..zz

Judith McCants, widow of Robert Mc Cants, died sometime before the
bond for her administrators,Samuel McCants and Alexander Crumpton,
was signed on January 27,1823, The sale of her chattel goods brought
$587.27. Distribution was made to the following heirs: Sarah, wife of Green
Berry Lal(?);Samuel Mc Cants;and Robert Alexander McCants,., John Mc Cants had
died before May 4,1825, because the administrator,on that date,showed the
return from his estate to be $62.79, and he did not receive a distributive
share of Judith McCant's estate., By 1835, when the final settlement was
made, Alexander Crumpton was dead and Samuel McCants acted as sole cxocutor.23

SAMUEL McCANTS,a son of John and Sarah McCants,probably the second son,
bought 100 acres of land from John Pickett for $150 in January 1816. This
land lay on Big Sawney Creek and had been originally granted to John
Robinson in 1768. Richard Campbell sold Samuel McCants 174 acres of land in
the forks of Sawney Creek and Stoney Lick Branch on September 29,1809.This
land was part of 820 acres that had been granted William Bryant in 1808,
Edmond Reynolds sold Samuel Mc Cants 75 acres of land on Sawney Creek for
$350.This land was part of 823 acres that had been granted to Bryant,and
bordered on the land of Thomas Knighton, Samuel McCants and Stoney Lick

Branch,.The deed was signed on September 14,1825.Samuel McCants signed a

22-F.P.C.,file 12,Pkg. 95
23~ F.P.C,,file 13, Pkg. 112, As will be shown later, Judith Mc Cants was

a daughter of John Grigg Sr.,and a sister-in-law of Alexander Crumpton.
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note for Elias Fish as s2curity for Fish to purchase 295 acres of land on
the headwaters of Big Cedar Creek ~n October 17,1826. Samuel McCants purchased
300 acres of land at a sheriff's sale for $10. The sale was to satisfy an
indebtedness of #34.54, The land was bound by the lands of Jacob Sellers,
E.G.Palmer,Thomas Williamson and Dr. Davis; the deed was signed on January 13,
1828, and was witnessed by Victor Broom and James Ualling.zaFor $1, Samuel
McCants released to James B.Coleman 199 acres of land; this land was part
of 1000 acres that had been granted to William Sanders on June 12,1772 ,and
bound northwest on land granted Archibald McNeil, now owned by Edward G.
Coleman;northeast by the land laid off for Ann B.McCants; southeast and
southwest by the land of John Hollis. The deed was signed on November 8,61833,
and witnessed by Samuel A, McCants and Robert (Alexander/) McCants., Elizabeth,
wife of Samuel McCants, signed her roloaac.stn January 1,1835, William
Sanders sold Samuel McCants 14l acres of land on Sawney Creek for 5130, This
land was where William Sanders lived and was bound by the lands of Samuel
McCants ,Dr, James Davis, James Rosborough,George R.Hunter,and Jonathan
Mick10.26

On December 3,1836, Robert A.McCants and Samuel McCants sold Isaac
Arledge 586 acres of land on Sawney Creek for $1200: made up out of land
originally granted to John Wilson, John Grigg and John Burns., William
Langhon sold Samuel McCants 42 acres on the southwest side of Sawney Creek

27
for $100 on August 14, 1834, Rosanna Langhon signed her release.

24F,D.B.,BkY,Pp.254,255;Bk HH,Pp.140,454,
25-Ibid, Bk LL,P-120,

26-Ibid, Bk LL,P=345,401

27-1bid, Bk NN,P.345
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The tax returns for Fairfield District for the year 1822 showed
Samuel McCants as the owner of 300 acres of land and one one olavc.zs

WILLIAM McCants, son of John and Sarah McCants, sold John Kelly the
100 acres of land on Sawney Creek that had been left him by his fnth.r.29

William McCants died in 1829,shortly after he had sold his land to
John Kelly.His widow Judith was appointed his administratix, and her bond
was signed on November 9,1829, The warrant of appraisement was issued to
Sebatian Ruff, Zach Crumpton, Nathan Godbold,Vincent Bell and Austin
Cloud on December 3, 1829, The next day her chattel goods were sold.

John W.Crumpton, James W.Crumpton,Sarah E.McCants ,Judith W. McCants and
Cynthia A.McCants agreed to the appointment of John Crumpton as their
attorney.The distribution of the estate of William McCants took place on
October 11, 1833, and the following shares were given out: the widow Judith
received $1607,94,4; each of the following heirs received $643,17 .4: Cynthia
Adeline McCants, Elizabth Amelia McCants,and Rebecca Ann McCants, Eliza Ann
McCants,and Sarah Eleanor HcCanCl.so It can be safely assumed that these
were daughters of William and Judith McCants,

ALEXANDER McCANTS,son of John and Sarah McCants, apparently died at
about the time of his brother William. George R.McCants and Elizabeth
Preston were appointed his adminstrator and administratrix. In this office,
they sold John Walker Alexander McCants' share in the 150 acres of land
that John McCants had left his youngest children.The land sold for $1.50

an acre, and was made up out of land that had been granted William Briant

28«Tax Returns for Fairfield,f 1822
zg'r.D.B., Bk 11.9-373

30-F.P.C.,file 43,pkg.671,1829
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(Bryant) on February 2,1801,and Margaret Robinson on September 12,1768. On
this same day, December 17,1833,George R.McCants, John C.McCants and
Andrew McCants sold John Walker the remaining three shares in the land

31
left his youngest children by John McCants.

Several members of the John and Sarah McCants family belonged to=-and
were active in- Twenty Five Mile Baptist Church,later Sandy Level Baptist
Church, Judith McCants, wife of William, was baptized in this church on
Saturday, June 5, 1824. Her husband William joined this church on October 5,
1827. John L.McCants was a long time and very active member: serving
several times as a delegate to the Baptist conventions; as clerk of the
church; and in many other faithful pooitionn.3z

ROBERT McCANTS settled in what is now upper Richland County. His relation=
ship to John McCants of Sawney Creek, and the other Mc Cants of South Carolina
could not be established by official records.An unconfirmed source says that
he was the granson of David McCants,

On June 3, 1771, Robert McCants received a precept for 100 acres of
land that was surveyed for him on Cedar Creek by John Alston,D.S. and the
plat certified on June 22,1771.This land was bound northeast by the land
of Nicholas Wirick and on all other sides by vacant land. The Royal Grant
was dated September 14,1771.33 On April 1, 1785, 100 acres of land was laid
out for him on Crooked Run Creek. The creek ran across the eastern portion

of the land, and the land was bound on the east by Thomas Alston,north by

John Bell,northwest by Thomas May,southwest by vacant land, and south by

31- F.D.B.,Bk MM,Pp=324,6325
32-MS Records of Sandy Level (Twenty-Five Mile) Baptist Church

33<C.P.Vol. 12,P=94; Royal Grants, Vol.24,1771
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the land already owned by Robert McCants. On the same day, April 1, 1785,

a plat for 200 acres of land on Thorn Tree Creek, a branch of Wateree
River,was certified for him."The road to the Congarees''ran across this
land.saOn March 2,1795, he sold this land on Thorn Tree Creek to Thomas
Trapp for 40 pounds, sterling. Nicholas Wirick and Jesse Busby witnessed
the dcod.aSSAmucl Alston surveyed 206 acres of land for Robert McCants on
Cedar Creek,and certified the plat on December 29,1794.This land was bound
by the lands of RobertMcCants,John Lightner, Joseph Durham and by land

whose owner was not knoun.36koborc McCants sold sold Moses Wooten the 100
acres of land on Sawney Creek that had been granted to Jane Robinson for 50
pounds , lccr11n¢.37D¢v1d McGraw conveyed to Robert McCants 400 acres of land
on Morris Creek on February 5,1787. This land had been granted to David
McGraw,and was bound by the lands of Peter Starnes, James Andrews and

Edward McGraw.Nathan McOraw and Joshua Starnes witnessed the dood.38

Brian Skipper,of Camden District, sold sold Robert McCants 170 acres of land
for 50 pounds, sterling. This land had been surveyed for John Long on
December 9,1771, and granted to John Winn on July 28,1775: and was bound
southeast on Isaac Arledge,southwest on Pressley Tidwell. The date of the
deed was November 9,1784, Sixteen years later, on October 5,1800, he sold

39
this land to Daniel Goyner (Joyner?) for $300.

348 .,P, ,Series I,Vol,.7Q,P~17;Vol.79,P~18,
35-F.D.B. Bk L,P~176.

36- S.P, Series 2,Vol,33, P321.
37-F.D.B.,Bk H,P=39

38-Ibid, Bk I, P-96

39- Ibid,Bk I,P-96; Bk N,P-389,
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On January 4, 1812, Robert McCants sold his son James McCants 134
acres of land on Little Cedar Creek;being made up,in part, out of the
100 acres of land granted Robert McCants on September 1b,1771.40

Robert Mc Cants made his will on July 3, 1812, and it was proven on
February 11,1817, and recorded on June 10,181.7.“1 His wife Elizabeth to
retain all of the property that she had brought with her. On June 3, 1802,
a marriage contract was drawn up between Elizabeth McMeekin and Robert
McKance(sic), in which it was agreed that he would give up all claim to
her property. Elizabeth McMeekin and her brother Andrew McMeekin were
listed as heirs of James McMeekin 1in a land transaction on January 20,
1797.“‘2 The widow,Elizabeth McCants, to receive full support from the
plantation of Robert McCants, which had been willed to his son James
McCants .Green Terman, grandson of Robert McCants was willed 75 acres of
land on the west side of the 200 acres that had been granted Robert
McCants on March 2, 1795. James Thompson, a grandson, was to have the 75
acres,the complement of the land which had been willed to his son James
McCants, and made up out of land granted Robert McCants in 1771 and 1786.
His son James to serve as his executor and to have the residue of his
property.J.Beaty,James Workman and George Shedd witnessed the will. Adam
Hamiter, Nicholas Wirick,John Turnipseed and William Robertson appraised

43
the estate.

40-F.D,B,Bk VP=193

41« F.P.C.,Apt. 12, file 100

42F.D.B,Bk V,P=97;Bk N,P-129

43« Elizabeth McMeekin and Robert McCants were probably married in 1802,
She was not the mother of James McCants and it is unlikely that she had

children.
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On December 10,1819, James Thompson sold James Mc Cants the 75 acres
of land that had been willed to him by his grandfather Robert McCants,for
$300, The land was bound on the northwest by the land of Nicholas Wirick.
Martha, wife of James Thompson, signed her roloa:c?a

JAMES McCANTS, son of Robert McCants, died intestate in Fairfield
District late in 1836,or early 1837, His son James B.McCants was appointed
his administrator,and his chattel goods appriased on January 17,1817, by
Humphrey Gibson,Z.Trapp, and Jacob Bookman. The appraised value of his
property was $13,848,86%, He had been successful in a judgement against
John Chappell and $455.98 was paid into his estate by the estate of John

Chappell. His wife was Mary Ann,daughter of Bartholomew Turnipseed. His heirs

45
were not listed.

Martha McCants,daughter of James McCants, in her will listed the
names of her brothers and sisters as her heirs.The will was made on March 27,
1841, and her brother James B.McCants was named her executor. Adam F.DuBard,
R.E.Bookman and Sophia Bell witnessed her will.She first desired the
"palitig of her fat'ier's grave";secondly, she gave 510 to the Winnsboro
Bible Society; she then made the following requests: to her brother George,
a Bible; to her sister Elizabeth,a red quilt;to her sister Mary, a black
8ilk frock and a little table; to her brother Thomas,a trunk; to sister
Jemima,a sampler; to sister Permelia, a white counterpane;to her mother,

her bed;to sister Nancy, a blue silk frock; to sister Mary, the first $200

M. anQB.Bk BB.P‘S“

45<F .P.C., Apt.44, file 688;Apt.513,
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realized from the sale of her property; the residue of her property to
be equally dividcd.a6

James McCants and his wife Mary Ann(Turnipseed) sold Jacob Bookman,
for $522, two tracts of land : the first tract was 35 acres made up out of
land granted William McGraw on May 7,1787,and out of land devised to Mary
Ann McCants by the will of her father Bartholomew Turnipseed;the second
tract of 75 acres was made up out of 200 acres of land granted to Stephen
Eleazer on May 21,1772, and represnted land that had been granted Elizabeth
Connely by her father Bartholomew Turnipseed. The 35 acres of land lay to
the west of Crooked Run Creek,and between that stream and the road to
Columbia, Jacob Bookman owned the land to the northeast and southeast of
of this tract;James McCants owned the land to the west. The 75 acres of
land lay to the west of the road to Columbia(from Bell'sMill), and was on
the drains of Shaver's Branch. The deed was witnessed by George McCants
and Harriet S.Turnipseed, and was signed in 1831.1‘7

The 1822 Tax Returns for Fairfield District showed James McCants, Esq.
as the owner of 673 acres of land and seven slaves,

DR. GEORGE McCANTS,son of James and grandson of Robert McCants,made his
will on January 1,1860, and it was proven on January 27,1860, Carolus
Felder, J.S.Steward and Thomas A.Pullig witnessed the will, His wife Sarah H.
McCants to have the home place that belonged to her at the time of their

marriage .The farm to be operated for the support of his wife and children.

46<F W.B,Vol.3, P=328

47<F.D.B.,Bk KK,P=154



P-14 Chapter 1
North of the Broad River
In the Forks of Crooked Run Creek and Little Cedar Creek

The executors of his will to sell the Fant place and the small farm in
Richland County. The executor to be the guardian of his children, Willie
and Anna. Willie to have his gold watch.Mentions his medical l:oc:»k..l‘8

The old Robert McCants home place was located on a quiet hill on the
western bank of Crooked Run Creek near its junction with Little Cedar Creek.
A large cemetery of unmarked graves marks the crown of the hill just
behind the site of the old homeplce. A heart pine stake marked the site of
the last burial in this graveyard more than a hundred years ago.There is
a tradition that a Revolutionary soldier drowned in the creek and is

buried here.

49
THE WIRICKS

On February 13,1766, John Nicholas Werrick petitioned the Governor
and Council for 150 acres of land in-or near, Londonborough Township and
for the bounty.He had lately arrived in the province on encouragement of
the bounty. On this same day,February 13, 1766 ,Maria Eva Werrick petitioned
for the bounty. -

In accordance with a precept dated June 2,1767, 150 acres of land was
surveyed for Nicholas Wirick (Werrick) on Dry Branch of Cedar Creek: bound
northeast on land of Mark Davies (Davis?), and on all other sides by vacant
land, The plat was certified on August 3C,1767, by Ralph Humphries D.S.51

52
The Royal Grant was dated March 8,1768,

48~F.P.C,,file 119,Pkg. 48

49-Sometimes written Wyrick, Wyref K Werrick, Wyrey,Wayref Wirrick.
50=Revill, Original Lists of Protestant Immigrants, 1763-1773, P=-56,
51=C.P.,bundle,1767; S.P.Series 1,Vol33 6P-420,

52= Royal Grants, Vol.l16,P42,1768.
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Pursuant to a warrant issued on November 5, 1771, 150 acres of land
was surveyed for Nicholas Wyrey (Wirick) on Crooked Run Creek: bound
southwest on John Hansearington,and on all other sides by vacant land.

The land was surveyed on November 10,1771, and the Royal Grant dated
May 21,1772.53

George Monglett and Peter Reamick, Lancaster County, South Carolina,

sold Nicholas (probably the young Nicholas) Wirick,of Fairfield County,

150 acres of land on Cedar Creek for 25 pounds,sterling,on January 1,

1798: bound southeast on land of George Freshley and vacant land; southwest
on Nicholas Wirey(Wirick);and on the other aides by vacant land.sa

James Mann, on August 17,1802, sold Nicholas Wirick 134% acres of land
on Little Cedar Creek. This land was part of 150 acres that had been
granted James Mann on March 6, 1786, and at the time of the original survey
was bound on the northwest by land of Nicholas Wrick,southwest on Robert
McCants ,southeast on Elijah Wallens and vacant land, and on the northeast
by vacant land. Mary and Samuel Alston witnessed the deed;Agnes, wife of
James Mann signed her rol.aoc.ss

Thomas McKinstry and wife Jane(Jean) sold Nicholas Wirick a tract of
land for $558,on January 9,1812., This land lay on Indian Branch,Little
Cedar Creek, and had been surveyed for John Alston for 160 acres on

January 1,1787. On resurvey,it was found to contain 279 acres. James

Walker and John Brown witnessed the deed. Jean McKinstry signed her r.loaao.56

53= C.P., bundle,1767;S.P. Series 1i,Vol.33,P-418.Royal Grants, Vol.25,P-671,
54«F.D.B.,Bk.L,P=120,1798
55« Ibid, Bk 0,P-373,1802

56-Ibid, Bk.V,P=210,1812,
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On February 14, 1818,James Owens and his wife Anna sold Nicholas
Wirick 74 acres of land on Crooked Run Creek for $883.42: being part of a
tract of 100 acres granted John Bell on Pebruary 13, 1768, and by John Bell
transferred to John Alston on November 25,26,1774., This land was
resurveyed by Samuel Alston on January 9,1811, and at that time was bound
on the southeast by Nicholas Wirick;south and southwest by John Turnipseed;
west by Robert McCants. Crooked Run Creek m‘do a big loop across the land?7

The Tax Returns for Fairfield District for 1822 showed Nicholas
Wirick as the owner of 895 acres of land and five slaves.

On February 16,1826, Nicholas Wirick sold his son Jacob Wirick a tract
of land for $466. This land had been granted to John Geiger in November
1772, and had been originally aurveyd as 150 acres, but on resurvey was
found to contain 238 acres. The land lay on Indian Branch of Little Cedar
Creek and Dry Branch of Crooked Run Creek: bound by the lands of George
Freshley(on Indian Branch),Harmon Wyrick,and Samuel Brown's estate, This
tract of 150 acres was surveyed for John Geiger by John Alston,D.S. on March 9,
1772.58Th.r' is no evidence that John Geiger ever lived on this land and
I can fid no record transferring this land to Nicholas Wirick prior to the
sale on February 16,1826,

On this same date, February 16,1826, Nicholas Wirick sold his son
Adam a tract of land for $384. This tract contained 107 acres and was made
up=in part- out of 150 acres that had been granted to James Mann on March 6,

1786, and,in part, out of 150 acres granted to Nicholas Wirick on March8,1768;

57<F.D.B.,Bk Z,P=552;Bk II,P=152,

58-F.D.B,Bk GG,P=-87., C.P.,Vol.16,P=48,



P-17 Chapter 1
North of the Broad River

In the Forks of Crooked Run Creek and Little Cedar Creek

the second part of the tract was 72 acres out of the 150 acres that had
been granted to Christopher Davis in 1771. A survey of the 107 acres of
land on March 2,1824, showed that this land was bound northeast by land
of Nicholas Wirick,southeast by land of Jesse Wirick,south by John Gradick,
and southwest and west by McCant's land. Catherine Gradick signed her
release of dower righco.59

Still on February 16,1826, Nicholas Wirick sold his son Jesse,for
$430, a tract of 130 acres made up,in part,out of the land granted James
Mann, and,in part, out of the 150 acres granted Nicholas Wirick on
March 8,1768., The sale included a second tract of 73 acres made up out of
the land granted Christopher Davis in 1771, On a plat made by Samuel
Alston,D.S., March 3,1824,the 130 acres of land was bound on the west by
Nicholas Wirick, north and east by John Gradick and Michael Turnipseed,
and south and southeast by James McCants, The 73 acre tract was bound on
the east by land of Adam Wirick, south by David Brown's land,west by
land of W.Robertson, and north by land of Katherine Turniplood.6o

Nicholas Wirick sold his son Nicholas Jr., February 16,1826, 150 acres
of land for $375. This tract of land was made up,in part,out of the 100
acres granted John Bell, and,in part, out of 160 acres granted John Alston

61
on January 1,1787,

59<F.D.B.,Bk GG,P=145
60-Ibid, BkGG,P-148

61= Ibid, Bk GG,P=-152
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On January 27,1827, Nicholas Wirick made his will: six years later,on
August 4, 1833, he died.His sons Adam, Nicholas, Jacob and Jesse were
appointed his execotors.To his wife Catherine, he left his house, his
plantation,and his three slaves:Jinny,Charles and Reuben. He also left her
his household goods, farm implements, and farm animals=-all carefully listed.
Separately listed were his''Dutch Books"To each of his children,he gave a
cow and calf,or twelve dollars.Jiny to be freed at his wife's death, but
the rest of the property to be equally divided at her death. To each of his
sons he gave a horse worth $70; Jesse received a horse worth $90,and $20 to
be returned to the estate. His son Zachariah to receive the home place, but
he is to pay the estate $500. The home place contained 340 acres. As
already noted, he had sold land to his sons Adam,Jesse, Jacob and Nicholas
on February 16,1826, His slaves not to be put at public auction for fear they
might be mistreated. His'bound boy" Phillip Gradick to be freed at the age
of twenty-one years, Very likely Phillip Gradich was grandson,nephew,or
close relative of Nicholas or Catherine Gradick Wirick.

Buying at the sale of the chattel goods, besides the family, were:

John Chappell. John Cook, Holly Robertson,Rebecca Mason(a daughter),
Henry Gradick, John Turnipseed, George Brown, John H.Smith,William DuBard,
Stephen Gray, Nathan Center, William Johnston, and Phillip Cook.The final
accounting went to these heirs: Jacobb Wirick; Adam Wirick; Nicholas
Wirick Jr,;Jesse Wirick; Zachariah Wirick;Mary,wife of Henry Gradick;
Rebeccah,wife of === Mason;Catherine Wirick;Elizabeth Wirick;and Anna

62
Sybilla, wife of Timothy Gradick.

62-F.P.C.,file 69, Pkg. 1064,1833,
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The old Nicholas Wirick graveyard ,overgrown and difficult to find,
lies on a hill just to the east of the small branch where (John) Nicholas
Werrick (Wirick),the immigrant, first obtained his land grants in 1768.
The graves of the family was originally enclosed, but the fence has long
since decayed. Some of the graves were marked (as will be noted later), but
many were unmarked. Outside of the enclosure were the numerous unmarked
graves of the slaves. For many years, this graveyard outside of the
enclosure,was a favorite burying ground for the local Negroes. One of the
graves in the Negro burying ground was marked by a "nigger head" rock with
the simple inscription "Elmer"

The marked graves carried these markings:

Nicholas Wirick-January 16,1768« August 4,61833,

Catherine Dorette Wirick-November 27,1772 -December 7,1841,

John Wirick-December 1790-August 27,1800,

Christiane Wirick- November 27,1795-September 12, 1809,

Miss Elizabeth Wirick- December 27,1810-October 3, 1888.

Tillman Jefferson Wirick~ January 13,1827-July 31,1855.

Since the Nicholas whose life we have just traced would have been
only a few months old at the time that John Nicholas Werrick (Wirick)
received his land grant in January 1765,it seems logical to assume that
"our Nicholas'" was the son of the immigrant John Nicholas.We ,also,
believe that his wife was the Maria 3va Werrick ,who asked for the bonus
on February 13,1766. There was a Herman =-or Harmon Wirick (often preferring

the spelling Wyrick) who was a contemporary of Nicholas Wirick and could
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have been a brother of Nicholas Wirick (1768-1833). The family of Harmon
Wyrick (WiricK) will be considered later. Catherine Dorette Gradick Wirick
was the daughter of Jacob and Mary Metz Gradick. Tillman Jefferson Wirick was
born too late to have been a son of Nicholas and Catherine Wirick and

was probably a grandson.

JACOB WIRICK,son of Nicholas and Catherine Wirick, was named for his
grandfather Jacob Gradick. Jacob Wirick married Polly l(oon?3 No probate
papers for Jacob Wirick were found and we do not know the names of his
children. The 1829 census for Fairfield District showed Jacob Wirick to
have five members in his family.

As previously noted,Jacob Wirick purchased a tract of land from his
father on February 16,1826.6“ Jacob Wirick had 9% acres of land on Crooked
Run Creek surveyed for him on November 22,1832, At the time of the survey,
the land was almost completely surrounded by the land of Jacob Bookmnn.65
Chelsey Stanton ,on February 9,1830, sold Jacob Wirick the 59 acres of
land that he had bought a years earlier,on January 30,1829, This land
was made up out of the 150 acres that had been granted the immigrant (John)
Nicholas Wirick in 1768. g:villn Stanton, wife of Chelsey Stanton, signed

the release of her dowry.

ADAM WIRICK, son of Nicholas and Catherine Wirick,as previously noted,

63- Fannie Lever MS

64=F.D.B.,Bk GG,P-87,1826

65-8.P., Index 2, Vol.30,P-190

66- F.D.B,Bk KK,P=18,1830, This shows a close connection of Harmon Wirick

and (John) Nicholas Wirick,the immigrant.
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had bought two tracts of land from his father on February 16,1826.By 1836,
Adam Wirick had moved to Florida,and on October 6, 1836, he sold his

brother Jesse the tract of 107 acres that he had bought from his father

67
ten years earlier,

JESSE WIRICK,son of Nicholas and Catherine Wirick, had the 203 acres
of land that he had purchased from his father in 1826,and the 107 acres that
he had purchased from his brother Adam.On October 8,1832, Phillip D.Cooke
sold Jesse Wirick 201 acres of land for $1281.37%.This land lay northwest
of Little Cedar Creek and where a small spring branch entered the creek.The
land lay mostly to the west of the branch and was made up out of land
originally granted to Mark Davies (Davis) on December 26,1766,and out of
land originally granted Christian Rister on May 2,1776.68

On March 18&19,1839, M.A.M Leggo D.S., under that act of 1791 for the
granting of vacant land,laid out 572 acres of land for Jesse Wirick.
Patrick Noble, Governor of the State of South Carolina, signed the grant on
July 18,1839, This land lay on both sides of Little Cedar Creek,and was
made up out of land originally granted Christopher Davis(1771),Christopher
Reuster(1774) ,Mark Davis (1766),and James Mann(1768).Part of this survey
seemed to include part of the 201 acres that Jesse Wirick had bought from
Phillip D.Cooke in 1832,This 572 acres of land was bound southeast on the
lands of Catherine Gradick and B.H.Robertson,east and north on land of
William Robertson,northwest on James Alston, west on Catherine Wirick's

69
land southwest on land of James McCants, Jesse Wirick should have owned

67=F.D.B,Bk MM,P=261
68=Ibid, Bk KK,P=394

69-S,P,.Index 2,Vol.52,P=304,1839
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1083 acres of land by the end of 1839, The 1829 census counted five
persons in his household. We do not know the names of his wife and

children,and no probate records found.

Samuel and Jesse Wirick were mustered into Captain Daniel Smith's
Company for three months service in the Seminole War on February 17,1836.70

NICHOLAS WIRICK JR.,son of Nicholas and Catherine Wirick,never married
and died intestate on July 24,1867 .His nephew Washington Mason, son of his
sister, Rebecca Mason,was appointed his asministrator.His heirs-not
named=- were his one surviving brother,the children of his two deceased
brothers,and his five lilt.rl.71

The heirs of George Freshley sold Nicholas Wirick Jr. the 150 acres
of land that had been granted to George Freshley on May 18,1771, This land
on resurvey was found to contain 206 acres. The land lay on Indian Branch
of Little Cedar Creek. The heirs of George Freshley concerned in this
transaction were Arthur McGraw for his wife Nancy, John Turnipseed of
Mississippi, Rebecca and Abraham Turnipseed of Richland County. The land
sold for $1442 and the deed was signed on June 3, 1834, Michael Turnipseed
acted as attorney for John Turnipseed of Amet County, Mississippi. Eliza
Turnipseed, wife of John Turnipseed,signed her rtl.acc.72

On December 11,1836, Nicholas Wirick Jr. bought a tract of land on

Morriss Creek from Thompson Pjayer, John Adger, and Dvid McDowell,executors

70~ Seminole War Records,S.C.Dept. Archives and History.
71<F.P.C.(new series) Apt, 27,file 319,1867.

72- F.D.B., Bk LL,P-382, 1834,
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of the estate of Joshua Player. This land had been conveyed to Joshua
Player by Peter Mason, and was priced at $13 an acre;to be paid on equal
installments on January 1 , 1837,January 2, 1838, and January 1,1839.73

ZACHARIAH (Zach) WIRICK, son of Nicholas and Catherine Wirick,died
intestae in Fairfield County sometime prior to January 13, 1852, the
date of the appraisal of his chattel goods. Marshall McGraw, Samuel H.
Evans and John Copeland carried out the appraisal., His heirs were the
widow, Rebecca A. Wirick, John Z.Wirick, C.Wirick, and Laura Elizabeth
Wirick.7a

Zach Wirick had obtained 340 acres of land through the provisions of
his father's will.John Carlisle and his wife Susan(Susannah) sold Zach
Wirick 189 acres of land for $1900 on January 11, 1834, This land was made
up out of 149 acres that had been given Susannah Mason Carlisle by her
father John Mason; and 40 adjoining acres given her by her mother Mary
Mason., Susannah Mason Carlisle signed the release of her dowry.7S

Zach Wirick,also, bought Jane Harrion's(wife of Thomas Harrison)
distributive share of land that had been left her by her father John Mason.
The tract contained 114 acres and lay on Morris Creek: bound southeast by
land of Jane Boyd;northeast by land of Samuel Cork;north by the land of the
Widow Scott; and west by land already owned by Zach Wirick. The sale price

77
was $1100, and the deed was signed on December 29,1835,

73-F.D,.B.,Bk NN,P-219,1836

74F ,P.C.,Apt. 97, file 397,1852,

75«F .D,B,Bk LL,P=171,1834, John Mason died 1803 and his wife Mary died in
1824, Susannah Mason Carlisle was born on December 3,1797 and died March 4,
1848, They are buried in the Old Bethel Church Cemetery.

76=F.D.B.,Bk LL,P=356,1835,
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The Harmon-or Herman- branch of the Wirick family has been hard to and
most of the genealogy is presumptive, although based on reasonable evidene.
I believe that Nicholas and Harmon Wirick were brothers or,at least, very
close kin.

HARMON (Herman) WYRICK (Wirick) was noted as having a wife named Sarah, and
probably sons named Jeremiah and Samuel. Sevilla C.Stanton was probably a
a daughter.The 1790 census for Fairfield District listed a Herman Wyret
as having two white, free males over sixteen years of age and one white
female in his household. The 1829 census showed the household of Harmon
Wirick as having five white members. This would fit his presumed family of
4 wife Sarah,two sons,a daughter,and Harmon,himself.

On January 23, 1829, Harmon Wirick sold Samuel Wirick (a son?) one
wagon,20 hogs, 7 cows and 9 sheep for $300.Tyrus and Azmond Bell witnessed
the deed. 1In this same year,1829, Harmon Wirick sold Samuel Wirick ,for
$200, all that tract of 150 acres (resurveyed to show 196 acres) originally
granted (John) Nicholas Wyrey (Wirick) on November 10,1771; and 90 acres
out of the 300 acres that had been granted to Christian Hansminger
(Entzminger) on February 21,1772, Fifty-nine of these acres had been
measured off for Chelsey Stanton and lay on the Spring Branch side of
Crooked Run Creek.Sara,wife of Harmon Wirick signed the release of her
dowry.77 This seems to mean that Samuel Wirick was planning to set up

housekeeping, and might have been planning to marry.

77. P.D.B.. Bk II'PP.276.278.18290
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Harmon Wirick sold Chelsey Stanton the 59 acres of land that had been
measured off from the land that he had sold Samuel Wirick on January 30,
1829,.Chelsey Stanton sold this land to Jacob Wirick on February 9,1830,
for $150, Sevilla C.Stanton signed the release of her dowry.78

James Craig sold Jeremiah Wirick 95% acres of land for $238,75,o0n
January 3, 1829.This land lay on Trapp Branch of Big Cedar Creek and was
part of 482 acres granted to Thomas Trapp on July 7, 1800; and,also part
of 270 acres that had been resurveyed by Samuel Alston,D.S. on December 12,
1828: bound northwest and southwest on John Kennedy and John Stanton;
Southwest and southeast on Weals? land and William Brown;and northeast on
James Craig,Jane Craig signed her release.John J.Wirick sold Samuel Wirick
35% acres of land on Big Cedar Creek for $79.87%,on February 12,1833,
This land was part of the tract of 482 acres that had been granted Thomas

Trapp in 1800, James Craig sold Samuel Wirick an additional 30 3/4 acres out of

the Thomas Trapp tract on February 12,1833,

Samuel Wirick sold Jacob Bookman the 149 acres of land that he had

purchased from Harmon Wirick for $487,in February 1831. This was the land
80
that he had purchased two years earlier.

Jeremiah Wirick applied for and received a letter of dismissal from
81

from Twenty-Five Mile(Sandy Level) Baptist Church on Saturday,May 5, 1832.

Did this mean that he was moving to another state?

78<F.D.B-Bk KK,Pp~17,18,1829,1830.

79-1bid, Bk II,P-403,1829;Bk KK,Pps43,444,1833,

80- Ibid, Bk KK,P-151, 1831,

81~ MS Records of Twenty-Five Mile Creek (Sandy Level) Baptist Church,

South Caroliniana Library.
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The following Wiricks saw service in the Confederate Army:

FRANK N.WIRICK,18 years old, Co C, 12th S.C.Regiment, killed at
Spottsylvania,May 18,1864,

JESSE P.(A) WIRICK, Co F. ,12th S.C.Regiment,enlisted at Alston on
September 5,1861, killed at Gaines Mill,June 27,1862, He was the son of
Zach Wirick. Just before entering service, he made his will leaving all
of his estate to his mother Mary H.Wirick.az

LABON V. WIRICK,Co H,7th Bn. S.C. Infantry( Enfield Rifles),also known
as Nelson's Bn, Enlisted on October 2,1863, at Sullivan's Island by
Captain Brooks, captured at Drewry's Bluff. Was in military prison at Point
Lookout Maryland, later transferred to Elmira Prison,N.Y.,August 15,1864,
When he was released on June 17,1865, he was asked where he wanted to go
and he stated"to go home to Columbia.'"He was released to the Simpson
Department ,In his prison records,he was described as being of florid
complexion,with auburn hair,blue eyes,and five feet five inches in height.

J.F.(John F.)WIRICK,Co C, 12th S.C.Regiment,enlisted at Winnsboro by
Lt. Hinnant, March 18,1862, captured at Spottsylvania, on or before
March 12,1864.At the time of his capture, he was charged with a leather
cartridge belt and extra cartridges valued at $4.07.These charges were
noted each time he was picked up on report.

W.P.(Wylie P.) WIRICK,20 years old, Co C, 12th S.C. Regiment,enlisted
August 10,1861, by Captain H.C.Davis at Lightwood Knot Springs, wounded at

Gettysburg, July 1863, died of his wounds (pyemia) in Federal Prison on

82-F,.P.C.,Apt. 15 (new series),file 112,
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July 26,1863, His body was transferred to David's Island on September 17,
1863, and he was buried in Cypress Hill Cemetery,Long Island.

J.Z(John Zachariah) WIRICK,son of Zachariah Wirick, served in Co B,
7th S.C.Bn.83

John Nicholas Werrick (Wirick) came to the forks of Crooked Run Creek
and Little Cedar Creek in 1767, and by thrift and hard work became the
progenitor of a large and wealthy family. A century later the guns of the
Civil War and emigration so decimated the family in Fairfield County that
today no members of the family now reside in the county. The contribution

of the Wirick family to the Confederate cause should preserve for the

family a place in the memoray of the county.

THE FAMILY OF JAMES MANN
The immigrant James Mann had lands in the forks of Little Cedar
Creek and Crooked Run Creek bordering on the lands of Stephen Eleazer,
(John) Nicholas Wirick, Nicholas Wirick, David McGraw,and George Freshley.
JAMES MANN,the immigrant, arrived in South Carolina on the ship

Pennsylvania Farmer,and on January 6,1773, petitioned the Governor and

Council for 200 acres of land.(This would seem to indicate that there were
four members in his hounohold)sa A precept for this land was issued on

January 6,1773, and on February 6,1773, John Alston D.S. laid the land off
on Crooked Run Creek: bound south west by Stephen Eleazer and vacant land;

and rorthwest on David Mc Graw's land; northeast and east on Nicholas Wirick's

83« Confederate War Records,S.C.Dept Archives and History.

84-Revill ,Original Lists of Protestant Immigrants,1763-1773,P-125
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and George Freshley's land.85 On November 4,1784, he had 150 acres of land
laid off for him. The grant was dated March 6, 1786.0n November 21,1784, he
had 245 acres of land surveyed for him,and the grant dated June 5, 1786,
On February 22,1800, he had 68 acres of land laid off for him, and the
grant was dated March 3, 1800,86

On November 16,1790, William Boyle, son and heir of John Boyle,
sold James Mann 100 acres of land for 50 pounds,sterling. This land had
been granted to John Boyle on June 19,1772, At the time of the original
survey,the land was surrounded by vacant 1aud.87David Watkins of Salisbury,
N.C.,s0ld James Mann 250 acres of land for 150 pounds sterling, on February 27,
1792, This land lay on Ned's Branch of Little River,and had been originally
granted to John Bell on May 13, 1768. John Bell transferred the land to
John Murray,who,in turn, transferred the land to David Watkins on March 18,
1783.88

James Mann sold Jacob Turnipseed the 68 acres granted him on Cedar
Cedar Creek,on March 3, 1800, for $52 in February 1801, This tract of land
was bound northeast on the estate of John Compty;west by John Brent's land!
south by George Leightner(Leitner);and east by Jacob Turnipseed. Agnes,
wife of James Mann, signed the release of her dovry.89On August 17, 1802,
James Mann sold Nicholas Wirick 134% acres out of the 150 acres that had

granted him on March 6,1786, The land lay on Little Cedar Creek and at the

85«C.P.Vol,18,P-1,1773,

86<S.P.,Index 1,Vol.7q,P-27,1784;5tate GrantsUol .6,P=265,170¢6, 3.7 7ndex 1,
Vol,.17,P-74;State Grants, Vol,.12,P~135,P-135,,1786. S.P.,Index 2, Vol.37,
P=484,1800; State Grants, Vol.46, P-290,1800

87«F.D.B.,Bk I,P~27,1790

88-Ibid, Bk.I,P=31,1792
89-1p1d  Bk.N,P-232,1801.
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time of the original survey was bound northwest by the land of Nicholas
Wirick,southeast by Robert McCant's land,southeast by land of Elijah
Wallen and vacant land, and northeast by vacant land. Mary and Samuel
Alston witnessed the deed. Agnes Mann signed the release of her dovry.90
The immigrant James Mann died in August 1818, His will made on August 7,
1818, was proven on August 17,1818.To his sons James and Thomas, he left the
home place of 250 acres; James to have the home and Thomas to have the
other half of the land with Still House Branch to be the line. I believe
this i{s the land that that the immigrant James Mann had purchased from
David Watkins in 1792, and situated on Still House Branch,Alligator Creek,
Little River. Thomas and his brother Nathaniel to have the 200 acres of
land the adjoining tract;Thomas to have 25 or 30 acres and Nathaniel to
have the remainder of the 200 acres., He gave his son Thomas three slaves,
James two slaves and Nathaniel one slave. To his daughter Elizabeth he
gave the slave girl Peggy; to his son-in-law William McCreight, he gave
930 andforgave him all of his debts;to his daughter Jane Frazier, he gave
$40 and all of the property already given her.Agnes, wife of James Mann
was not mentioned in the will and was probably already dead.Joseph McAdams,
Samuel McKinstry and Rebecca Evans witnessed the will., Thomas and James

91
Mann were named executors of the will,

Ezekiel and Jane (Mann) Frazier were not satisfied with the distribution
of her father James Mann's property and filed a petition against the
heirs of James Mann:James, Thomas and Nathaniel Mann; Thomas, James and

Polly McCeight; and Elizabeth Mann., The petition was hear in the Court of

90-F.D.B.,Bk 0,P-383,1802

91-F.W.B,Vol.1,Bk7,P=43 F.P.C, Apt.25,file 386,1818,
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Equity for Fairfield District in the June 1825 term of court.The court
ordered the sale of the 250 acres of land on Aligator Creek,Little River,
that had been granted to John Bell in 1768;and part of the 245 acres of
land granted James Mann Sr.,for a total of 461 acres of land.John Buchanan,
Commissioner in Equity ordered the sale for September 4,1826. James Mann Jr.
bought the land,at the sale,for $1786.37%. The land was bound by the lands of
Ezekiel Frazier,Samuel Brown,Samuel McKinstry, Hugh Elliott, Zach Trapp,
Edward Yarborough and ochcrl.qz

James Mann Jr. on December 30,1826, sold his brother Thomas the 250
acres of land that had been granted John Bell in 1768,along with 30 acres
out of the tract of 245 acres granted to James Mann (Sr.) in 1786.93

Four of the children of the immigrant James Mann:James, Thomas, Elizabth
Mann and Polly McCreight died within a few months of each other in late 1842
or early 1843, The medical bill submitted by Dr. John M.Glenn to the estate
of Thomas Mann serves as an indication as to the time of death of these
several members of the family.He began attending Thomas Mann during the
month of August 1842, and saw him regularly through the month of September
1842 ;after that he saw him occasionally until January 19,1843,the probable
date of his death.In September 1842 he began seeing "Miss Polly" (Polly

McCreight). She was dead before her sister Elizabeth. In November 1842,

92-F.D,B. Bk HH,P~29,1826, Elkin's map of Fairfield County (1876) shows
Alligator Creek entering Little River just above Brown's Bridge. A recent
South Carolina Highway map shows Alligator Creek, now called Mann's Branch,
Joining with Gibson's Branch just tefore entering Little River.

93-F.D.B., Bk HH,P-28,1826,



P31 Chapter 1
North of the Broad River

In the Forks of Crooked Run Creek and Little Cedar Creek

Dr Glenn began seeing Miss Betsy (Elizabeth Mann), and attended her until
her death on January 9,1843. James Mann appears to have died in late
January 1843. Dr Glenn made no vecord of having attended James Mann.Dr Glenn
charged $2.50 for the visit and the medicine. At the time Dr. Glenn submitted
his bill on March 17,1845, he charged interest for one year,two months and
ten dayt.9a
The death of these four members of the same family within so short
a period of time suggests the possibility of a contagious disease. The
prolonged illness suggests that tuberculosis might have been the disease.
James Mann Jr.,son of the immigrant James Mann and his wife Agnes,
made his will on October 1,1828. His son Nathanie] qualified on January 30,
1843, His sister Elizabeth Mann was left a "genteel support" out of the
estate, To his niece Mary McCreight, he left $200,to be paid when she reached
the age of eighteen years,or married. To his nephews James and Thomas Mann,
sons of his brother Nathaniel, he left a slave,each, after the death of
his brother Thomas. To his brother Thomas, still unmarried, he left the
residue of his estate; Nathaniel to inherit after Thomas. Samuel Brown
and Nathaniel Mann were named his executors.William Brown, George Ferrell
and Samuel Brown witnessed the will. The estate of James Mann Jr, had a
horse named Bob and another named Lightfoot. In the probate papers of
James Mann, there was a letter from Thomas V.McCreight and James McCreight
of Autauga ,Alabama, dated March 22,1845 ,appointing William McCreight their

95
attorney to receive their inheritance.

94-F .P.C. ,Apt.78,Pkg.108,1843

95<F.W.B.,Vol.3,Bk 19,P=-290;F.P.C. ,Apt.78,Pkg.109,1843.
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Thomas Mann,son of the immigrant James Mann and his wife Agnes, made
his will on January 14,1843, and it was proven on January 30,1843, To his
brother Nathaniel ,he left six slaves,his stock, household goods and three-
quarters of the money owed him, He left his niece Mary E.McCreight a slave
boy and girl and one=-quarter of the money owed him. To his nephews James
and Thomas Mann,sons of his brother Nathaniel, he left his real estate.
Nathaniel Mann and Phillip Pulleg were named his executors. John Watt,
E.anbghgh and Green W.Yarborough witnessed the 9111.96 He had been sick
a long time and probably died on January 19,1843,

The 1822 Tax Return for Fairfield District showed Thomas Mann as the
owner of seven slaves and 450 acres of land.

Elizabeth Mann, unmarried daughter of the immigrant James Mann and
his wife Agnes, died intestate on January 9,1843, Included in her probate
papers was the bond for the sale of her father's estate on September 4,
1826. The principal was $275.97, and the interest for eighteen years was
$358,95, making a total of $634.92.James B.McCants was now Commissioner
in Equity for Fairield County.Her brother Nathaniel, adminstrator of her
estate,had $1987.18, for distribution on January 1,1845, The distribution
was made in this manner: to estate of Thomas Mann,deceased, $497.29%;to
children of Jane Frazier(deceased) viz Mary wife of Robert Elliott,William
Frazier,Nancy wife of~--?,Sarah wife of Thomas Jones,Ezekiel Frazier,

Joel Frazier,and Jane wife of Peter Mason, $97.29%;to children of Mary
McCreight ,deceased, viz Thomas and James McCreight ,and Mary wife of J.W.

Logan (she had married and become a widow in the two years since her uncle

96-F.W.B.,Vol.3,Bk 19,P-292,F.P.C.,Apt.78,Pkg. 110.1843,
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Thomas Mann'death),$497.29%; Nathaniel Mann,$497.29%, Phillip Pulleg acted
as the attorney for the heirs of Ezekiel Frazier and on July 13,1845,
received $506,50, Mary E.Logan gave her.receipt for $75.76% as her share
in her aunt's .ltlt..97

Nathaniel Mann,son of the immigrant James Mann and his wife Agnes,
and Margaret,wife of Nathaniel Mann , signed a quit claim to the estate of
Thomas Richardson and his widow Elizabeth,both deceased; having by other
arrangements received their full inheritance. The signing of this quit
claim on April 17,1830, permitted Thomas Richardson (an heir) to sell
Joseph Seastrunk 168 acres of land : made up out of land granted to Bryan
Riley, Thomas McPherson(150 acres)and Daniel Wootan(250 acres granted
December 24, 1772),and lying on Little River. Susannah Richardson,wife
of Thomas Richardson signed her rolcnlo.gslt is probable that Margaret
Mann,wife of Nathaniel, was a daughter of the elder Thomas and Elizabeth
Richardson.

James ,son of Nathaniel and grandson of the immigrant James Mann,
was born on September 6,1811, and died May 10,1899, His wife Mary Y.Mann
was born on August 18,1823, and died February 18,1899, They are buried

in the churchyard of Bethel Methodist Church, not far from their home.

97'?:PQC- .fil. 78,”‘. lm

98-F.D.B.,Bk KK,P=310,1830
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JOHN GEIGER

John Geiger had 200 acres of land surveyed for him north of Broad
River:bordering southwest on land that he already owned,southeast on Anthony
Arnest (sic), and on all other sides by vacant lands. The warrant of survey
was issued on November 5, 1771, and the plat certified on November 8,1771.
On February 4, 1772, he received a warrant of survey for 150 acres of land.
This land was surveyed for him on (Little) Cedar Creek: bound southeast on
George Freshley,southwest on Nicholas Wairey (Wirick),and on all other sides
by vacant land. The plat was certified on on March 9,1772. This land lay on

1
Indian Branch of Little Cedar Creek and a Dry Branch of Crooked Run Creek.

2
On February 16,1826, Nicholas Wirick sold this land to his son Jacob.
John Geiger was a member of the Presbyterian Church,Apii Forum,

later Cedar Creek Methodist Church,on Cedar Creek, at the time of its
3
incorporation in 1788,

The 1790 census shows John Geiger living in Richland County with one
white,free male over sixteen years of age,two white,free feamles and five
slaves.

The family of this John Geiger could not be traced with any degree
of certainty.A John Geiger died in Lexington District in 1815.4

5
JOHANNES STEPHEN ELEAZER

The South Carolipa Gazatte for May 28,June 4,and June 25,1750,

1-C.P.Vol,16,P=-48,1771-1772,

2-F.D.B, Bk GG,P-89,1826

3-8,C.H.M,,Vo0l,47,P=203,

4=Brent H.Holcomb,Memorialized Records of Lexington District,South
Carolina,1814-1825.Southern Historical Press, Easley, S.C.,1978.

5« Sometimes written Ellizer in the records.
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carried the advertisements that the indentured Dutch servant named
Johannes S¥ephen Ellizer(sic) had run away from Mr Robert Quince of Cape
Fear,and that a five pound reward was being offered for his rcturn.60n
Tuesday May 7,1751, Johannes Stephen Eleazer,a stone cutter,who described
himself as"one of the unhappy people who came to Cape Fear on Captain
Crawford's ship and from there came to this place' (Charleston).Later, he
went up the to the Congarees with Herman Geiger, and declared himself
desirous of settling on the Broad River above Saxe Gotha.Since coming to
the Congarees, he had married Barbara Swagert(Swygert) and petitioned the
Governor and Council for 100 acres of land.70n May 7,1751, Johannes Stephen
Eleazer received a precept from George Hunter Esq.,S.G.,for 100 acres of
land that was later surveyed for him on the southwest side of Broad River.
This land was bordered northeast on the river, southeast on Jacob Weaber,
southwest on vacant.land, and northeast on land of Peter Rentfrow. The plat
was certified on May 17,1751, and the Royal Grant was dated October 6, 1752.8
Seventeen years later, on May 17,1768, he had 100 acres of land laid out
for him"on the drains of Broad River": bound northeast and southeast on lands
of Jacob Boughter (Bookter),and on all other sides by vacant land. The Royal
Grant was dated December 6,1768.9

On February 28,1772, he had 200 acres of land laid out on Phillips

Branch of Little River; bound southeast on William McGraw and vacant land,

6=Microfilm:South Carolina GazetteS.C.Dept Archives and History.
7-C.J.,May 7, 1751.

8«C.P,,Vo0l,.5,P=224;R.G.,V0l.5,P=63,

9-COPo ,VOI .lo.p-zaga.c. .VOI .17.Po720
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southwest on Phillip Shaver, and on the other sides by vacant land. The
Royal Grant was signed on May 21,1772.10
During the Revolutionary War, Stephen Eleazer furnished forage and
food to the troops. From May 1779 to March 1780,he sold corn, forage,pork,
bacon and mutton to the Confinoncal State Troops and to the militia to the
value of 36 pounds,sterling. The troops buying these supplies were
Colonel Thomas'Light Dragoons and part militia,Colonel Lindsay's Detachment,
Captain Leitner's Company. He,also, fed breakfast and dinner to small
detachments of troops. He furnished corn for General Picken's Brigade;also,
for part of the brigade under ColonelFarr. On October 20,1781, he sold two
bushels of corn for the horses of Colonel Wade Hamoton. Stephen Eleazer
died before August 27,1785, at which time Jacol Cleazer made oath that he
was the administrator of his father estate and,therefore, ontitlo& to

collect all the money due his father for the provisions that he had

11
provided.

The 1790 census showed Jacob Elliser(Eleazer) as a resident of the
NorthPart of Orangeburgh District, and to have one white, free male over
sixteen years of age,and three white, free females in his household.

SIMON ELEAZER, Lexinton County, as the lawful heir of Stephen
Eleazer,sold George Eleazer,Fairfield County, the 200 acres of land that
had been granted Daniel Boatwright March 8,1752, on Eleazer Branch of Cannon

Creek in the forks of Saluda and Broad Rivers, for 50 pounds, current money.

10-C.P.,Vol.15,P=1;R.G. Vol.25,P¢559.

11-Rev War Records,AA 2191,
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12
Mary, wife of Simon Eleazer, signed the release of her dowry.

The 1790 census showed Simon Eleazer as living in the North Part of
Orangeburgh District(forks of Broad and Saluda Rivers) with one white,free
male over sixteen years of age, and two white,free females in his household.
The same census shoed Mary Elliser(Eleazer) as living in the same area with
two white, free males over sixteen years of age,three under sixteen, and
two white, free females in her household.

Simon and Mary Eleazer,Richland County, sold Bartholomew Turnipseed
the 200 acres of land on the drains of Shaver's Branch for 100 pounds,
sterling on May 8,1796. This land had been granted Stephen Eleazer on
May 21, 1772. Samuel Alston, Jacob Nertz and George Eleazer witnessed the
deod.13 In 18231, James Mc Cants and his wife Mary, daughter of Ratholomew
Turnipseed (deceased) sold Jacob Boo::an this 200 acres of land that had
been granted Stephen Eleazer in 1772,

On November 6, 1798, Thomas Richardson sold George Eleazer 50 acres of
land for 100 pounds. This land was part of 100 acres that had been
granted William Busby. John Chappell, Robert Richardson and Samuel

Richardson witnessed the deed. Elizabeth,wife of Thomas Richsdson, signed
15
the release of her dowry.

12-F.D.B.,Bk ¥,6P=72,1789
13- Ibid, Bk.K,P-198,1796
l4=Ibid, Bk KK,P=-154,1831.

15- Ibid, Bk.M,P=50,1798..
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George Eleazer, Fairfield District, sold John Sims,Fairfield District,
55 acres of land on the west bank of Little River for $300, on December 23,
1804, This land was bound by the lands of George Ashford, Elliott lands,and
the land of John Simms. This land was part of the tract that had been to
William Busby and undoubtedly represented the land that George Eleazer had
purchased from Thomas Richardson in 1798.16 On February 6, 1806, George

Eleazer gave Bartholomew Turnipseed a mortgage on a slave to secure a note

17
for $295,

We know nothing further of George Eleazer.Since we could not find
Probate records in Richland or Fairfield County, we might assume that he
went to Lexington County to live on the 200 acres of land that he had
bought from Simon Eleazer on Zleazer Branch of Cannon Creek.The relatiomship
of George Eleazer to Johannes Stephen,Simon,Jacob and Mary not well

established.

18
GEORGE FRESHLEY

GEORGE FRESHLEY received a precept for 150 acres of land on November 6,
1770, and the land was laid out for him on Indian Branch, Little Cedar
Creek,Craven County: bound on all sides by vacant land. The plat was
certified on December 29,1770 and the Royal Grant was signed on May 18, 1771.19

On March 27,1773,100 acres of land was laid out for him south of the

16~F.D.B. ,Bi.0,P=523,1805,
17-Ibid, BkQ,P=65,1806.
18- Sometimes written as Frashley or Frishley.

19-C.P.,Vo1.15,P=218,1770;R.G.Vol.23,P~529,1771,
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Broad River:bound southwest on land of Henry Shull,and on ;11 other sides
by vacant land. The Royal Grant was signed on May 25,1774. °

The 1790 census showed George Freshley as a resident of the North Part,
Orangeburgh District, with two white,free males over sixteen years of age,
three under sixteen years of age,and four white,free females in his
household.

George Freshley died sometime before 1824.on January 26,1824, his heirs:
Arthur McGraw for his wife Nancy,Fairfield District; John Turnipseed,Amet(?)
County, MississippijRachel and Abraham Turnipseed, had Samuel L.Alston D.S,
resurvey the 150 acres of land on Indain Branch, Little Cedar Creek, that
had been granted George Freshley in 1771, These heirs, with Michael
Trunipseed acting for John Turnipseed of Mississippi, sold Nicholas Wirick
this land on June 3,1835. Eliza,wife of John Turnipseed,signed her release.21

Miley,or Milly,Turnipseed, daughter of John B.Turnipseed,married John
(George) Freshley.Her brothers were John, George and Potley; her sisters were
Polly, Nancy and Elizabeth(married George Lorick)zzThat George Freshley
was also known as John George Freshley is evident from a deed of January 27,
1792, On that date,Christian Leitner,eldest son and heir of Michael
Leitner,sold John George Freshley 250 acres of land on Crooked Run Creek
for 75 pounds,sterling. This land had been granted Micael Leitner on
May 15,1775. At the time of the original grant,this land was bound northwest

on Edward “ennett and land owner unknown;northeast on John Alston and

Jennett Boyd;and on other sides by vacant and land owner unknown.Chritian

20-C.P.,Vol.15, P-211,1773; R.G.,Vol.22,P-156,1774.
21-F.D.B,Bk LL,P-328,382.

22-R.W.B.,Vol.12, Bk H,P-167,1833.
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Reister and Jacob Fry were witnesses to the deed.It is probable that

George Freshley never lived on his land in Fairfield District. A deed dated
December 1,1800, showed George Freshley as a resident of Orangeburgh District
(North Part- Forks of Saluda and Broad Rivers?). On that date George Frashley
sold James Long of Fairfield District a Negro girl for 3300.23

CHRISTIAN FRESHLEY, Lexington District,was probably a son of George
Freshley.On October 5, 1822, Christian Freshley sold Samuel Alston 152 acres
of land on Crooked Run Creek for $456. This land was part of 250 acres that
John George Freshley had purchased from Christian Leitner on January 27,

1792 .Nancy,wife of Christian Freshley, wigned the release of her dowry. John
and William Brown witnessed the docd.za |

Samuel Alston sold Christian Freshley, Lexington District,140 acres of
land on Reiley's Creek,Little River for $140. This land had been granted to
Samue] Alston on December7,1812.Robert Mc Cancazwa- Justice of the Peace
at the signing of the deed on January 24,1813, -

On January 19,1819, William Augustine sold Christian Freshley 691%
acres of land for $4160. This land was made up out of the following tracts:
300 acres granted Egerton Leigh on December 5,1758;150 acres granted
William McWilliams on September 5,1775;150 acres granted John Boyd;500 acres
granted William Landers on April 29,1772;176 acres granted Augustine

Williams on May 6,1805;350 acres granted Stephen Gibson on April 18,1771,

23-F.D.B.,Bk.K,P-364,1792; Bk,N,P-216,1800.
24~ 1Ibid, Bk.KK,P-260,1822.
25-1bid, Bk,V,P-194,1813,
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There was no record as to how much land was taken out of each of these
26

tracts,.Lucy Augustine eigned the release of her dowry.

Christian Freshley,on August 13,1827, had a note in the Columbia
Branch of the Bank of South Carolina for $1500, This note was endorsed by
Samuel Brown, John Thompson and Thomas Cook. To secure this note, Christian
Freshley gave his endorsers mortgages on lovo;al slaves. George Ashford
and William Mounce witnessed the transaction. ’

Christian Freshley, Lexington District,on August 1,1832, sold Charles
Free,Fairfield District,797 acres of land for $3500. This land was made up
out of several tracts in Fairfield District, northeast of Broad River: bound
south on Broad River,and on all other sides by the lands of Nathan Cook,L.
Trapp,John Chappell and John Watt .Not included in the sale was the ferry
across Broad River,and the road from the ferry landing to the road to
Columbia.His son Joseph Freshley to retain the ferry and the road. Nancy,
wife of Christian Freshley signed the release of her dowry.Joseph and Eli

28

Freshley witnessed the deed. Also on August 1,1832, Christian Freshley
29

sold Charles Free four slaves for $1914.

Joseph and Eli Freshley,lLexington District, and Ch‘i.- Free,Fairfield
District, agreed to pay Nancy Freshley fifty dollars,each,annually, for
reasons not stated, Failure to meet this obligation would permit Nancy

30
Freshley to have use of such lands as she needed and the use of a slave.

26~ F.D.B,,Bk.AA,P=-458,1819.
27-1bid, Bk.HH,P-364,1827.
28-Ibid, Bk.KK,P=-350,1832.
29-1bid, Bk.KK,P=-351, 1832.
30- Ibid, Bk.LL,P-158,1832.
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The Freshleys gave their name to shoal in Broad River near Wallaceville.
THE DAVIS FAMILIES

MARK DAVIES (Davis) received a precept for 100 acres ofland on August 5,
1765. This land was laid out for him on a branch north of Little Cedar
Creek and the plat certified September 18,1765. The land was surrounded by
vacant land at the time of the original survey. A path to the house of

John Williams crossed the land and across Little Cedar Creek to the
31
southeast,

Mark Davis was one of the thirty-five Little River-Cedar Creek
Regulators,and apparently never owned more than the 100 acres of land granted
him. He received the Regulator Pardon of October 31,1771.32

We do not known the eventual fate of Mark Davis (Davies),but the land
that had been granted him on Little Ccdnr‘Crook eventually came into the
possession of Jesse Wirick through a sale by Phillip D.Cooke,and through
a state grant of 572 acres of land to Jesse Wirick on July 18,1839.33

CHRISTOPHER DAVIS received a precept for 100 acres of land on October 1,
1771, and the land was laid off for him on October 9,1771,by John Alston D.S.
This land was bound on the southeast by land of Thomas Franklin and on all
other sides by vacant land. Nicholas Wirick came to own this land and on

: 35 ;
February 16, 1826, sold the land to his sons Adam and Jesse.

31~ C.P.Vol.9,P=401,1765.
32.Brm. S,C.R.'ulltot‘.. Pp-l“s, 159-160,2120

33-F.D.B.,Bk.KK,P=394,1832.5.P. ,Index Z,Vol.52,P-304,1839.
34« C.P.,Vol,9,P=401,1771.

35<F.D.B.,Bk.GG,P-145,148,1826.
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The relationship, if any, between Mark Davis and Christopher Davis
could not be established. Neither were listed in the 1790 census,.

JOHN DAVIS was the son of the Rev. John Davis, pastor of the Second
Baptist Church, Boston,and grandson of the Rev. David Davis who had
immigrated from Wales in 1710,and was pastor of the Welsh Tract Church in
Pennsylvania, John Davis moved to Loudon County, Virginia, and from there
to Fairfield County in 1770.He had seven sons that were engaged in the
American Revolution,and only two survived the conflict.Three of his sons
were successive captains in the same company. He departed this life on March 15,

36
1785, in the 66th year of his age.

There is no date on the will of John Davis to show the date it was made,
or the date of its proving.To his son Jonathan he left a shilling:to his son
Amos, he left a slave and the tract of land where lives, and containing 150
acres; to his daughter Rachel Pritchard,he left 30 pounds to be paid twelve
months after his deathjto his son (Captain) James Pavis, he left the home
place known as the Engleman place ,and a second place of 200acres on Sandy
Run and known as the Davis old place,and a third place of 150 acres on Rocky
Creek;to his grandson John Davis, son of his dececeased son John, he left
left 30 pounds to be paid tunlv;7nontbn after his death. Amos and James

Davis were named his executors. The probate papers of John Davis are

brief, cryptic and extremely difficult to read. James, Amos and Joseph
38
Davis owed him money.

36- Adapted from the inscription on his monument in the Furman -Davis
cemetery as copied by Mary Sue Robinson Richard Winn Chapter DAR,
37- K.w.,Vol.l,Bk.A.P'176°

38-F.P.C,, file 2, Pkg.61,1785.
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John Davis had 150 acres of land laid off for him in Craven County,
north of the Broad River, on two small branches of Rocky Creek: bound
northeast on James Rowbuck (sic) and unknown land;southeast on Joseph
Howard and unknown land;southwest on John Wilson, unknown land and vacant
land. John Owen D.S. made the survey on August 30,1773.39

AMOS DAVIS, son of John Davis and brother of Captain James Davis,
did militia duty for 200 days during the Revolutionary War as a private,
and 141.days as a captain in the militia. This duty included 69 days at
Orangeburgh in 1781,and 72 days at Four Holes and Edisto in 1782. He saw
duty in Captain Anderson Thomas' Company,and as a captain of foot in
Colonel Richard Winn's chimcnt.ao

Amos Davis died between the making of his will on December 6, 1785,
and the proving of this will on November 16,1786. To his son John,he left
a Negro call Ben,the home place of 150 acres, and an adjoinig place of
238 acres.To his son Elnathan, he left a Negro girl named Rose. His wife
Sarah was pregnant and to this unborn child and Elnathan, he left the
rest of his estate., To his wife Sarah, he left half of the rest of his
land, and what animals ,farm tools, and household goods that she might
need during her lifntimo-ozlvidouhood. W.Hogan, Moses Arnold, and Mary
. Arnold witnessed the will. In the probate papers of Amos Davis, his
still,a tub and a worm worth 4 pounds was listed. At the settlement of

42
his estate ;- May 28,1791, Edward and Sarah Tillman acted as adminstators.

39« C.P.Vol,14, P-330,1773.
40<Rev., War Records.
41-K.W.B., Vol.l,Bk.A-1,P-215,1786.

42- F.P.C., Apt.2,file 65,1791.
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Had the widow Sarah Davis married Edward Tillman?

ELNATHAN DAVIS,son of Amos Davis,grandson of John Davis,died
intestae sometimes during the year 1836. The warrant for the appraisement
of his estate was issued on December 13, 1836, to his brother John,Elizah
Willingham and Jonathan B.Robertson.Buying at the sale of his personal
property on January 27,1837:Joseph Holmes, Jonathan Barnes Robertson,
Jane Davis, William Holmes Margaret Holmes and Richard Duggan. Jonathan
Davis had hired a Negro boy from his brother John for the year 1836.63

CAPTAIN JAMES DAVIS, son of the elder John Davis, died in 1822 at the
age of 68 years, His wife Mary was born in 1741 and died on July 30,1840,

at the age of 99 years and three months. Her monument was erected by her
44
only son Jonathan Davis.

James Davis made his will on October 19,18ZZ, and it was proven on
October 26,1822, His son Jonathan and his friends James R. Woods and John
Rogers were named his executors. James Rogers, Isaac Lowe(Love?),and Levi
Gerl (Gurr?) witnessed the will. To his wife Mary, he left the use of the old
plantation,three old slaves, and what livestock and tools that she might
need,His lower plantation, the Boyd place, was to be sold. He had little
confidence in the business ability of his daughter Elizabeth Boyd and
her husband John Boyd, Jonathan Davis bought the Boyd place. -

Captain James Davis, Fairfield District, was a merchant,b land
speculator,and had extensive financial dealings. On April 29, 1793, he

bought from James Dillard Sr. and James Dillard Jr.a sixteen year old

43-F.P.C,,Apt . 46,f1le 715, 1836.
44-Inscriptions Furman and Davis cemetery.

45-F.P.C, ,Apt, 13, file 131, 1822,
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Negro girl named Rachel for the sum of 36 pounds, 6 shillings and 3 pence,
stcrling..“6ﬂn had bought 250 acres of land from his father John Davis on
February 27,1785, for the sum of 100 pounds. This land lay on Wilkinson
Creek. The deed was witnessed by D.Bradford, Thomas Parrott and John
Gregg. 47Jolm Barker, planter of Fairfield County,sold James Davis and
Phillip Pearson, the undivided portion of 15 acres of land on November30,1796.
The 15 acres was part of 50 acres that had been granted to Robert Ellison
on October 20,1772, George Reddich witnessed the dcod.asJohn Woodward Jr.,
planter of Fairfield District,gave James Davis, merchant of Fairfield
District, a mortgage on 40 or 50 acres of land on Woodward Branch of Little
River to secure an indebtedness of $247.07.The document was signed on
December 23,1802.The land had been orignally granted to Shadrick James
(Jonol?)agon March 10,i802, James Davis sold Enock James a Negro girl named
Peggy and 55 acres of land on the north side of Beaver Creek,Broad River,
for 704 milled Spanish dollars.Half of this sum to be paid on February 10,
1803, and a mortgage taken for the remainder. The land had been originally
granted to Margaret Godfrey in 1774.50Hary Powell,on November 26,1804,gave James
Davis a mortigege on her household furniture,a horse, and a tract of land

51
leading down to Strother's Ferry to secure the sum of $55,23,

46F.D.B.,Bk.A,P=199,1793
47-Ibid, Bk.B,P=56,1785
48-1bid, Bk,L,P=174,1796.
49-_Ibid, Bk.0,P=345,1802.
50-Ibid, Bk.0,P=348,1802

51- Ibid, Bk.P,P-151, 1804
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James Davis owned a number of mortgages,and on occasions bought the
land or goods for the principal sum of the mortgage. On January 23,1805,
John Lewis sold James Davis one dun cow, one red heifer, one motley faced
yearling,two old bedsteads,one Dutch oven,three hogs,one large trunk,and
all the goods in a certain messuage on lands of Samuel Comfiets between
Broad and Little Rivers for 382.52John Norton sold James Davis two mares,
a colt, saws, chains, and a lot of household goods for $123, on February 12,
1805.53 On February 6, 1805, David and Ann Marple gave James Davis a
mortgage on household goods and livestock to secure an indebtedness of $7b.51.54
James Davis sold John Woodward Sr. and John Woodward Jr. 100 acres of land
on the west side of Little River for $298.72., The land had been originally
been granted to James Butler . Thomas Nelson and Burbage Woodward witnessed
- the deed in 1805.55le.l Davis sold John Lyles 50 acres of land for 100
pounds on February 6,1799. The land was part of 300 acres that had been
granted John Dye on Rocky Creek,northeast of Broad River. It was conveyed
by John Dye to Elizabeth !doéington,inhoritod by Thomas Ederington, and
by him conveyed to James Davis. The land was bound by the lands of James(?)
Roebuck,Shadrich Wooley, George Smith and Hennery (sic) Ederington, William

56

Woodward and Hennery Ederington witnessed the deed. On January 5, 1797,
57

James Davis sold Henry Ederington 120 acres out of the John Dye tract of land.

52-F.D,B.,Bk.P,P=153,1805.
53~ Ibid, Bk.P,154,1805.
54-Ibid, Bk.P,P=156,1805.
55- Ibid, Bk.P,P=162,1805
56- Ibid, Bk R,P=165, 1799.

57- Ibid, Bk.S,P-239,1797.
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Sheriff John Barkley, Fairfield District, at the direction of the
Court of Common Pleas for November 1810, sold at public auction the land of
John Rabb., The sale took place on April 5, 1813, and the bid of $405 by
James Davis was the highest for the 34l acres of land.This land had once
belonged to Thomas Parrott,and was bound by the lands of William Catoe, James
Davis, Charles Montgomery, Joshua Durham and ochoro.ss James Davis sold
Thomas Means 33.7 acres of land for $50 on March 28,1808. This land was part
of a grant to Shadrich Jacobs in 1789,and conveyed by Jacobs to John Woodward
in 1808, and by Woodward to James Davis, R.Milling and A.Cooper witnessed
the deed. o On February 10,1809, James Davis sold Thomas Ederington 150 acres
of land for $300.This land, where John Robinson now lives,was sold to James
Davis by Wade Hampton on November 29,1794(17912)60Jam.l Davis sold George
Godfrey 100 acres of land in Fairfield District for $391 on October 9,1809.
This land,originally granted to Margaret Godfrey, was transferred to Enoch
James, and by the sheriff of Fairfield District was transferred to James
Davis as the "James Property.'"'The land was bound on one side by the land of
Thomas Strother. Aromanus Lyles Jr. and Phillip Pearson Jr. witnessed the
docd.61Jamnl Davis, planter of Fairfield District, sold William Woodward,
planter of Fairfield District, 80 acres of land that had been granted
to Edward Watts, and by him conveyed to John Woodward Sr.(docoanod)62

Perhaps the biggest of the land purchases of James Davis was made

58- F.D.B.,Bk.W,P-85,1810

59-Ibid, Bk. R,P-272,1808.
60- Ibid, Bk.S,P226,1805
61= Ibid, Bk.X,P-141,1809.

62-Ibid Bk.Y,P-73,1815.
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on December 17,1816.He paid his son-in-law John Boyd $7000 for 710% acres
of land made jp out of the following tracts: 100 acres originally granted
Richard Neely Sr.;a second tract of 100 acres originally granted Richard
Neely Sr.;165% acres on Little River;324 acres with an additional 21 acres,
to make up the total of 710% acres., Elizabeth Boyd signed her release. This
property wa;3bound on the north by Thomas McMeekin and on the south by

John Lyons. James Davis, for the love and addection that he had for his

daughter Elizabeth, gave her one-third of this land that he had bought
64
from John Boyd.

John Boyd, meanwhile,had moved to Tennessee. He deeded the slaves Dick
and his wife Peggy, and their two children to his children as a gift., James
Davis, as guardian of the children of John Boyd,was to keep the two slaves
in his possesion until January 1,1818, at which time they were to be
returned to the full possession of James Davis. John Boyd gave James Davis

65
his power-of attornmey for this transaction.

John Long,in 1822, sold James Davis 23 3/4 acres of land on Neely's
Branch of Little River for $200. This land came from the northeast corner
of 300 acres of land that had been granted Thomas Nelson on April 3, 1786,
and by him conveyed to John Long. James R.Wood and Thomas McMeekin witnessed
the dood.66wlllinm Cato, Benjamin May, Joshua Durham and Phillip Pearson,

Commissioners for the Village of Monticello, sold James Davis a lot in the

village containing one-half acre for $57,on January 3, 1821, A dozen years,

63- F.D.B,Bk.AA,P-1,1816; Bk BB,P-313,1819,
64= Ibid Bk.FF,P-223,1819.

65- Ibid, Bk. AA,P-170,1817.

66= Ibid, Bk, DD,P-215 ,1822,



P=50 Chapter 2
North of the Broad River

Little Cedar Creek

later, on January 18,1823, Jonathan Davis, James R.Wood, and John Rodgers,
executors of the will of James James Davis , released to Simon Flodan ,
mechanic of Fairfield District, James Davis' lot and the house it contained
in the village of Monticello, for the $500 paid James Davis before his
death,Joseph A.Woodward, William R.Mcynl and Levi Gere witnessed the docd.67
The tax returns for Fairfield District for 1822 showed the estate of
James Davis to contain 1431 acres of land and 41 slaves in Fairfield, and

68

178 acres of land in St, James Parish.
69
JONATHAN DAVIS , only son of Captain James Davis and his wife Mary,was

born on August 18,1786, and died October 1,1855, His wife Rebecca Kincaid,
daughter of Captain James Kincaid, and six of their eleven children

survived him. Rebecca Kincaid was born on January 2,1787, married Reverend
Jonathan Davis on January 22, 1807, and died at the home of her son-in-law
Dr. James C.Furman, in Greenville, on June 9,1870.The children of Jonathan

and Rebecca Kincaid Davis:
James Bunyan Davis(Dr. James B.Davis)born December 30,1807 ,married

Mary R.Scott, died=e?
William K.Davis,born July 14,1809 ,married Saram M.Zimmerman on

December 12,1833,
Mary Davis, born March 6,1811,died October 31,1811,

Benjamin F.Davis,born December 23, 1812 ,married Grace Adams, died

June 13,1858.

67~ F.D.B.,Bk.EE,P-119,1823,

68-Return of Taxable Property for Fairfield and other Districts,b 1822,

69« Sometimes referred to as Colonel, Doctor,or Reverend Jonathan Davis
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Harriet E.Davis, born September 23,1814, married Dr James C.Furman
on April 3, 1833, died August 17,1849,

Jonathan Davis, born August 5, 1816, married Mary Carter.

Rebecca Davis, born May 5, 1818, died August 18,1838,

Nathan Davis, born March 29,1820,

David Daniel Davis, born June 22,1822 ,died February 28,1823,

Mary Glenn Davis, born June 26, 1824, married Dr James C, Furman as
his second wife on June 4,1856.

John Bunyan Davis, born May 10,1826 ,married Violet Patterson in 1856,

Jonathan Davis and his children, Harriet E.Furman, Rebecca Ann, Mary,

and Daniel David are buried in the old Furman -Davis burying ground
70
not far from Monticello.

On December 5, 1821, at a meeting in Columbia to organize a State
Baptist Convention, Colonel Jonathan Davis, a deacon of the Rock Creek
Church, was 1n4;tod to a seat on the Council. Furman Theological Institution
with the purpose of teaching,besides theology, agriculture, English and the
Classics,was to be moved to Fairfield District because of the better soil.
J.Davis was among those appointed to purchase the needed land. Jonathan
Davis was on the first Board of Trustee of Furman Theological Institutte
and its sister English and Classical Schools, Fairfield District, He stood
by the institution when it was destroyed by fire on May 1,1837, and served

on the building committee when it was rebuilt and a Theological Department

70= Inscriptions Furman-Davis burying ground. Rev. Horace Rabb,Biographical
Sketches of the Kincaids,McMorries, Watts,Glazier, and Rabb Famiels,Second

Edition, 1936,
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established. Later, he served on the committee that recommended the
removal of Furman to Greenville in 1750, He died in 1856(1855), sometime
after accepting the position as an agent for the Mission Board. He was

lame as a result of an accident,and it was believed that this and his
71

labors hastened his death.
Jonathan Davis was in many ways an unusual man.Besides his thiry years
of service to the Baptist Church, he was a colonel in command of a regiment

of militia,served in the South Carolina Legislature , was a large land owner,
72
and business man.

Chrispen Morgan mortgaged a sorrel mare to Jonathan Davis (and Boyd)
for the sum of $67.27. The mortgage was signed on March 29,1806, and was.to be
paid by December 25, 1806, William F.Pearson and George Reddick witnessed
the transaction. e~ John Boyd, brother=-in-law of Jonathan Davis, conveyed
to Jonathan Davis the 100 acres of land ;h.rc Jonathan Davis lived for
$800 on October 21,1806. " On April 2, 1810, Jonathan Davis bought 160 acres of
land at a sheriff's sale for $67.37,plus $12.33 costs. This land had been
mortgaged by James Smith to Boyd and Davis . Sheriff James Fort Muse,
Fairfield District, gave Jonathan Davis sheriff's titles to the land.7s
William Catoe resurveyed a tract of land for Jonathan Davis on November 13,

1810. The land was surrounded by the lands of Nathaniel Holley, Hugh Perry

71=King, S.C.Baptists, Pp.172,198,201,221.

72-In part from the inscriptions on his tombstone.
73~ F.D.B., Bk.G,P-80,1806.

74-1bid Bk.R,P-52,1806.

75-Ibid, Bk.T,P-278,1810.
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76 y
and Jonathan Davis. Robert Barkley sold Jonathan Davis 1244 acres of land - for
$866,0n August 5, 1811, This was an original tract granted Samuel Elliott ,except
for that part divided off James Rogers. Mary Barkley signed the release of her
dowry.7jonnthan Davis and his wife Rebecca sold Rbert Barkley 350 acres of
land,minus 14 acres that had been taken off, for $625,.This land lay on the
Charleston Highway two miles above Winnsboro, and had been granted to
Richard Hampton,Esq.The deed was signed on August 16,1811, and was witnessed
by S.Alston, James Rogers and James Davis. ® Jonathan Davis, at a sheriff's
sale on June 7,1813, bought the home place of Samuel McGill for $130. This
place had been seized for failure to repay $153.57.3 due Caleb Clarke and
Barnett Ball.79 Thomas Yarborough sold Jonathan Davis one-half of the land
granted Colinm Phorbis,containing 100 acres, for $400 on November 10,1815:
bound by the remaining one~half of the tract;west by Abraham Thompson;southeast
by William Catoe;east and north by Jonathan Davis.William Blair and David
Boyd witnessed the deed. Agnes C.Yarborough signed the release of her dowryy "
Thomas May, Union District, sold Jonathan Davis 100 acres of land for $100
on September 28,1814, This land had been originally granted to John A.Thorpe,
and had been conveyed to Thomas May at a sheriff's sale. Burrell B.Cools
and Daniel Dansby Free witnessed the d.cd.alwillinn Duggan,Fairfield District,

on September 18,1820, sold Jonathan Davis the following tracts of land:

76= F.D.B.,Bk.T,P=374,1810.
77- 1bid, Bk.U,P-171,1811,
78~ Ibid, Bk.U,P.176, 1811.
79- Ibid, Bk.W,P-76,1813.
80- Ibid, Bk.X,P-129,1815.

81- mi. Bko Y.P-gs’lslao
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112 acres of land made up out of the land of William Duggan's estate,including
part of the 194 acres that had been granted to Richard Duggan in December 1790,
and part of 200 acres granted David Atckinson on November 9,1772;an adjoining
tract of 114 acres on the east side of Little River, originally granted to
William Duggan,and being the remainder of 176 acres after 52 acres had been

82
divided off. for William Rabb. Harriet,wife of William Duggan signed her

rclonlc.83 William Dansby and Jonathan Davis were chosen by the heirs of
William Dugan Sr. (deceased) to make a division of his land. William Duggan Jr.
bought the five shares of his brothers and uacor-.aa David Wilson sold
Jdonathan Davis 230 acres of land for $3000 on April 28,1819. Part of this

land was made up out from the 150 acres originally granted to James McCullough
on August 12,1791, and by him conveyed to James Russels(sic),and then to

David Wilson. This land was bound southwest by Hugh Perry and southeast by
William Rabb. The remainder of the 230 acres was made up out of land granted

to William Duggan. Agnes, wife of David Wilson, signed the release of her

85
dowry,

On September 2,1824, William Kincaid left 600 acres of land in trust
with Colonel Jonathan Davis for his daughter Nancy Hall, wife of Alexander B,
Hall.This land adjoined the lands of Abner Fant, William Robertson,Thomas
Means, James Andrews and Henry Edrington. This trusteeship to last the natural
life of Nancy Hall, and she and her husband to pay $2 annually to the executors

86.
of the estate of William Kincaid. On February 23, 1830, William Kincaid

82~ The error in arithmetic 1s in the deed.
83-F.D.B.,Bk.CC,P-85,1820.

84=Ibid, Bk.CC,P-88,1820.

85-Ibid, Bk. CC,P=96,1819.

86-Ibid, Bk.GG,P=4,1824,
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for the natural love and affection that he bore Anne Hall,wife of A.(Alexander)
B. Hall, and for $1, he left in trust with Jonathan Davis four slaves , not

to be used by her husband. He,also, left in trust for Ann (Nancy)Hall the Hall
plantation and all of the stock that he had purchaséd during the year.87 On
September 15, 1829, Jonathan Davis signed a quit claim on the plantation of
183 acres,on Little River, that had been conveyed to Isaac Love by Samuel
MeDill on February 14,1815.88 Jonathan Davis,on January 30,1836, sold Stuart
Mitchell the Boyd plantation of 453% acres for 31800.89 On June 27,1837,
Jonathan Davis sold his son James B,Davis the following tracts of land for

$2745: sixteen acres conveyed by John Dawkins to Jonathan Davis in 1836, and

Y

bound northwest by the methodist church lot,northeast by John Dawins,southeast
by Jonathan Davis,and south by the lands of the estate of Jamee Davie;a tract
of land conveyed by William Aiken to Jonathan Davis on March 8,1836, and
bound on the north by the above tract, west by the lands of the estate of
James Davis,and south by W.K.Davis; one-half of the old remaining undivided
portion of the estate of James Davis and containing 228 acrol.go

Robert Cathcart, Winnsboro, sold Jonathan Davis 116 acres of land on
Little River for $650,on August 16,1830, This land had been originally granted
to Thomas Lewers, and was bound by the lands of William Carnahan, Robert Rabb,
and James Lyonl.91 Dr Joel E.Pearson sold Jonathan Davis 200 acres of land

for $1000,on June 29,1836. This land was taken from the eastern part of the

87-F.D.B., Bk.HH,P-280,1830.
88-Ibid, Bk,HH,P=72,1829.
89~ Ibid, Bk.MM,P-201,1836.
90~ Ibid, Bk.MM,P=470,

91- Ibid, Bk.MM,P-503,1830.
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Bunker Hill Plantation that had belonged to P.Pearson (deceased). The land

lay on Dawkins Branch,Owens Creek,Broad River, and lay between the road to
Monticello and the one to Huey's Ferry. The land of John Dawkins and the
Monticello Reservation lay to the east, the rest of the Bunker Hill Plantation
lay to the west,the land of Jonathan Davis lay to the north and just south

of the road to Monticello, ;;. land of John Dawkins lay to the south.Ann

Pearson signed her release.

Jonathan Davis, according to the tax returns for Fairfield District
for 1822, owned 2163 acres of land and 46 slaves.

DR. JAMES BOLTON DAVIS,son of Jonathan and Rebecca Kincaid Davis,
was born in Fairfield District, near Monticello,on December 30,1807. He married
Mary R.Scott on November 2,1830., He practiced medicine for a very short time
before turning his considerable talents to agriculture; he spent the years
1845-1849 as a minister of agriculture to Turkey, and for this duty,he was
richly rewarded. He brought back with him a pair of Brahma cows, the first

brought to America., He lived for awhile in Charleston and Columbia,but

spent the last years of his life at his home near Monticello where he

93
died in 1861.

Dr. James B.Davis was not as active in the buying and selling of
land as had been his father.On December 2,1830, he bought three lots in
Sg
the town of Winnsboro from David Means: one lot on Congree Street, one on

Sion Street, and the third between the other two. Charlotte Means signed
%

92F.D.B, Bk .MM, P=504,1836.
93- Rev. Horace Rabb,Biographical Sketches, gave his name as James Bunyan.

Katherine TomlinPearson A Fairfield Sketchbook, by Stevenson Bolick,1963.

Rev. Horace Rabb,Biographical Sketches, 2nd Ed.,1936.
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her release., A little more than a year later, on March 12, 1832,he sold these
lots to Robert Cathcart for $3000.9SLatcr in the same year, on October 1,1832,
in order to secure a note to John Buchanan, Commissioner in Equity for
Fairfield District, for the penal sum of $3643,37, conditioned upon the
payment of $1821.68.3/4,James B.Davis gave a mortgage on a tract of land on
Broad River.Colonel Thomas I.Cook cosigned the mortgage.. This mortgage was
taken for the purpose of buying,for $1896, a tract of land belonging to the
estate of George Ruff.This land sold by the Court of Equity for Fairfield
District upon the complaint of William Ruff in his own right, as guardian
of Warren and Hilburn Ruff,and for his brother George Ruff against Nancy Ruff,
widow of the elder George Ruff and now married to Daniel Hughey. The land
bordered on Rroad River, on the land John Hollinshed, Daniel Hughey and James
Alston. Thomas I.Cook and Thomas Dellaney witnessed the dood.96

Dr. James B. Davis sold his brother Hil;;am K.Davis the 199 acre George
Ruff tract of land for $2500 on April 15, 1832.James B.Davis and his brother
William K.Davis bought two tracts of land from Joseph Holmes for $2888,o0n
October 28,1836: one tract of 105 acres was bound on the west by the land of
General Thomas McMeekin,but originally belonging to Charles Montgomery,and on
the north and east by land of Charles Rabb; the second tract of 378 acres was
bound northeast by William Steel, the Calhoun estate, by Aiken land and by

Dawkins land,southwest on Jonathan Davis, and southeast on Charles Montgomery.

Both tracts lay to the west of Little River. Ezekiel Hoy and Benjamin F. Davis
98
witnessed the deed.

95«F.D.B.,Bk ,HH,P-301,1830; Bk.KK,P-297,1832.
96-Ibid, Bk.KK,P-372,1832;Bk.LL,P-20,1832,
97-Ibid,Bk LL,P-332,1834,

98~ Ibid,Bk.MM,P=474,1837.



P-58 Chapter 2
North of the Broad River

Little Cedar Creek

As previously noted, James B.Davis bought land from his father Jonathan

Davis on June 27,1837.He bought into his grandfather Captain James B.Davis'
estate by buying the share of his cousin Celia B, Boyd, Newberry District, for
$119.86,0on February 23,1837. This was a one-sixth share of the land that
represented the one-half portion of the plantation that Captain James Davis
had given his widow Mary Davis. For the same price,he bought the one=-sixth
shares of John How;a,nenjamin D.Boyd, and Isaac and Marcia Nicholc.ggwilliam R
Alston,as President of the Monticello Jefferson Society, sold James B.Davis
two half acres lots number 9and 10 in the village of Monticello for $27, on
July 10,1837, These lots lay in approximation to Campbell , Mercer and
Montgomery Streets in the village of Honciccllo.loo John Seigler sold James B,
Davis 178 acres of land for $1546,0n January 10,1837. This land lay between
Broad and Little Rivers.Jane, wife of John Seigler, signed the ;ioaoc of her
dowry.IOIJnmno B.Davis bid $1525 at public auction and purchased,on

December 4,1837, 122 acres of land that had been sold as a foreclosure on a
mortgage for $1057 against Zachariah and Richard R.Woodward,and given by

Joel A.Pearson. This land lay on Wilkinson Creek and was bound by the lands
102

of Stevenson,Daniel Free and others.

Soon after this, Dr. James B.Davis began selling property.On May 29,
1839, he sold William Bell 295% acres of land on Broad River ,known as the
Matthew's place,for $806.17. This land was bound by land already owned by

William Bell,on the east by Thomas Owens, south by Eleath Elkins,and on the

99~ F.D.B., Bk.MM,Pp.471,472,473,475, 1837.
100~ Ibid, Bk.MM.P-474,1837.
101-Ibid,  Bk.MM,P-471,1837.

102~ Ibid Bk.MM,P-488,1837.
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west by the lands of James B.Davis. Mary E.Davis, wife of James B.Davis

signed the release of her dowry. On this same day,James B. Davis sold sold
William Bell 340 3/4 acres of land on Broad River for $3925.25: bound by lands
of Elliott Elkins, William Free,William Bell,William Alston and by the land
that James B.Davis had sold William Bell on this date. Still on May 24, 1839,
James B.Davis sold Thomas Owens Sr. l4% acres of land,for $290.12%, adjoinéng
land already owned by Thomas Owens Sr.103 Altogether James B.Davis sold

650 3/4 acres of land for $5021.54% on May 24,1839,

WILLIAM K.DAVIS, second son of the Rev, Jonathan and Rebecca Kincaid
Davis,was born on July 14,1809, and married Sarah Margaret Zimmerman on
December 12,1833. Sarah Margaret Zimmerman was born September 14, 1815, and
died December 29 1859.Their daughter Eliza Kincaid Davis died on November .
1840, and is buried by her mother in the Furman-Davis Burying Ground.loa

In November 1834, William K.Davis bought 145 acres of land from
Samuel G.McCreight for $725. This land was part of the McCreight home place
and lay east of the road from Monticello to Columbia: bound by the lands of
James M.Bell,and W.K.Davis. Sarah McCreight signed the

105
John Free, Fairfield District,sold William K.Davis

Charles Montgomery,

release of her dowry.

79% acres of land for $400 in 1834. This land was the whole of John Free's

land except for a small tract laid off for William Free. The land lay

southeast of the road from Ruff's Ferry to Winnsboro ,and lay parcially on

103-F.D.B.,Bk.NN,Pp.=272,284,285.
104~ Rabb, Biographical Sketches,Znd Ed.,P=13, Inscriptions from stones in

Furman = Davis Burying Ground.

105«F.D.B., Bk.LL,P=329,1834.
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Free's Branch, Owen's Creek,Broad River: bound by the lands of William K.
Davis, John Hollinshed,William Free and William Brown. Nancy Free signed

the release of her dowry.106 On April 15, 1834, William K.Davis purchased

199 acres of land from his brother Dr. James B.Davis for $2500.107Jon¢than
Davis and James R.Wood,as executors of the estate of James Davis (deceased) ,
sold William K.Davis 252 acres of land on Reeses Creek ,Little River, for
$756, on January 7, 1835. According to a plat made by Thomas J.Cook D.S.,on
May 26,1834, the land lay to the east of the road (Monticello) to Columbia
and jultzgg:.rOId to James Bell. Reeses Creek lay along the eastern border of
the land and the lands of Samuel McCreight,Charles Montgomery ,Joseph Holmes»

108
Elizabeth Boyd and the estate of William Aiken bordered the land.

THOMAS DAVIS OF DUTCHMAN'S CREEK

There were several Thomas Davis' in early South Carolina and it has
been very difficult to separately identify them. On May 5, 1773, Thomas Davis
obtained a precept for 200 acres of land that was laid out for him on
two small branches of Bever(sic) Creek, North of Broad River: bound southeast

by Henry Harcodrorth.nlt by George Gyst and vacant land,northwest by George

Davis,and on the other side by vacant land. Job Owen D.S. made the survey on

109
May 12, 1773. On December 12, 1789, Thomas Davis, blacksmith Fairfield County,

106-F.D.B.,Bk.LL,P=330,1834,
107-Ibid, BK.LL,P-332,1834,
108-Ibid,  Bk.LL,Ps427,1835.

109~ C.P. Vol,14,P-335,1773.
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and his wife Jane sold Elijah Major, blacksmith of Fairfield County, this
200 acres of land for 100 pounds, oterling.llo

Thomas Davis (Sr.) died intestate in Fairfield District sometimes near
November 3,1825, the date a warrant of appraisement was issued to Benjamin
Nettles, Thomas Robertson, Anderson Rochelle, John Hnrrién and George Rochelle,
for the estate of Thomas Davis.Jacob Davis, his son, was appointed the
administrator of the estate. Among his possessions was 116 acres of land
valued at one dollar an acre. Before his death, he had given his son Timothy
50 acres of land valued at $1.50 an acre, a cow, a calf and a bed.To his son
Thomas (Jr.)he also left 50 acres of land,a cow and a horse. Thomas Davis,
through his assigner David Aiken, requested his distributive share of his
father's estate on January 7,1828. The heirs of Thomas Davis(Sr.) were to
receive $277.10.8 each , but some had already received part of their
inheritance . The named heirs were Timothy Davis, Jacob Davis, John Davis,
William and Nancy Ivey, Strother and Polly Tidwell, and David Davio.lll

A few years after the death of her husband Thomas Davis Sr., his widow
Elizabeth died intestate in Fairfield District.Her son Thomas Davis(Jr.) was
made her administrator. The warrant of appraisement was dated October 20,
1829, and John M.Stork, Moses Knighton and Samuel Evans appraised her
estate, She still had the $529.34.6 share of her husband's estate, Her coffin

112
was made by Anderson Rochelle for $5.80. Dr., D.R.June's account was $17.00,

110-F.D.B.,B%.M,P-136,1789.
111- F.P.C. Apt. 44, file 693, 1825.

112- Ibid, Apt. 45, file 702,1829,
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On February 12,1818, Thomas Davis Sr. doodec‘nlf of his estate to
William Ivey(son=in-law?), to be effective at the time of his death.113
Henry Robinson and his wife Mary sold Thomas 120 acres of land on Shadrick
Branch,of Broad River, for 50 pounds,current money, on December 17,1794, This
land was part of a tract that had been granted to Henry Robinson on August 7,
1786, and bordered on the lands of Peter Larews and Edrington. - John Ham,
Rowan County, North Carolina,sold Thomas Davis, Fairfield County,150 acres of
land on Thorn Tree Creek for 40 pounds, sterling. This land had been granted
James Langhan and John Goff. Thomas Davis sold this land to John Smith for
50 pounds, sterling, on February 22,1799.115 Jesse Havis sold Thomas Davis
10% acres of land on Dutchman's Creek for $50 on April 9,1811.116Andr¢v
McDowell sold Thomas Davis, Dutchman's Creek,200 acres of land for $94 on
December 10,1800. This land was part of a tract originally granted to Andrew
McDowell .THe signing of the deed was witnessed by James Stewart,James Austen
(sic) and Thomas 8.nt.117Joooc Havis sold Thomas Davis 25% acres of land for
$50 in October 1802, This land was part of a grant to Jesse Havis on January 5,
1795.118 Jesse Havis,on December 2,1814, sold Thomas Davis 40 acres of land
for $45. This land came from the southside of the 430 acres granted Jesse Havis

119
on January 4, 1995.

113-F.D.B,Bk.Z,P-118,1818,
114=Tbid, Bk .K,P-81,1794,

115-Ibid, Bk,L, P-184,1796; Bk.0,P-280,1799.
116-Ibid, Bk.V,,P-127,1811,
117-1b1d,Bk.N,P-282, 1800,

118-Ibid,Bk. 0,P143,1802

119- 1bid, Bk.W,P-352,1814,
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John Pickett,on September 6,1817, sold Thomas Davis 100 acres of land on
Dutchman Creek for $100.Jesse Havis had bought the land from William Gaines,
and it was part of 400 acres that had been granted Andrew McDowell in 1795.
There was some question as to the validity of the title and the deed contained

the stipulation that if the title proved faulty,John Pickett was to pay
120
Thomas Davis $110.

Thomas Davis sold Thomas Robertson 9 acres of land on Dutchman
Creek in September 1818. This land was part of the 400 acres that had been
granted Andrew McDowell in 1795. The lands of Richard B.Havis, Jacob Davis
and Abner Ross surrounded this land.Elizabeth, wife of Thomas Davis signed

her release. Thomas Davis Sr. sold his son Thomas David Jr.50 acres of land
land 121
out of the Mc Dowellafor $100 on January 6, 1818,

James Whitaker, planter of Kershaw District, gave little James Davis,

son of Thomas Davis Jr.,carpenter of Fairfield District, a five year old bay
122

mare in January 1824, W.and Mary T.Whitaker witnessed the gift. Thomas

Davis Sr. gave his daughter=-in-law Ester Davis a Negro girl named Susa, fire
123
irons, tongs and a shovel on February 10,1824, It will be remembered that

Thomas Davis Sr. was a blacksmith.
In the returns for taxable property for Fairfield District for 1822,

Thomas Davis had 300 acres of land and seven slaves, Thomas Davis Jr, had
124
50 acres of land.Jacob Davis had 116 acres of land and seven slaves.

120-F.D.B.,Bk,2,P~114,1817.
121-1bid, Bk.AA,P-22,1818;Bk.EE,P-264,1818.
122-1bid,Bk .EE,P-245, 1824.

123-1bid, Bk .EE,,P-271,1824.
124<Returns of Taxable Property Fairfield and other Districts for 1822,
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JACOB DAVIS was the son of Thomas Davis Sr. Gazaway Godbold ,on
June 1,1829, acknowledged an indebtedness of $160 to Jacob Davis. To secure
this indebtedness, Gazaway Godbold gave Jacob Davis a mortgage on three
alavea.lzs Gardner Ford sold Jacob Davis, planter of Fairfield District ,
807% acres of land for $5200,on January 28,1834.This land was made up out of
300 acres bought by Gardner Ford from Rachel Griffin, and 507% acres bought
from Cannon Cason? and others: bound on the east by Thomas Robertson, John
Smith and Woodward lands;south by the lands of the estate of Thomas Davis(Sr.)
and John Hnrril;n; west by the estate of Abner Ross; northwest by James
Harrisonjand northeast by Oliver Ross., Elizabeth Ford signed the release of
her dowry.126 Jacob Davis' hog mark crop off the right ear and a hole in the
left ear, His stock brand was a J.D.127

JOHN DAVIS, probably a son of Thomas Davis Sr,, purchased 28% acres of
land on Cedar Creek from James Crossland for $700,on December 21,1835,
Margaret Crossland signed her release.M.A.M.Leggo and John Hollis witnessed
the d“d.lz8

CALEB DAVIS (Jr.?) lived in the northwest corner of Fairfield District.
Caleb Davis Sr., ,Chester District, received 2 pounds,sterling, for 28 days
militia duty in Captain Anderson Thomas' Company in 1779.0n November 25, 1813,
he made a claim to the South Carolina Senate and House of Representives for

two horses taken by men who represented themselves as patriots.He also claimed

that in 1781, a detachment from General Greene's Army called at his house and

125- F.D.B.,Bk,II,P=330,1829
126~ 1bid,,Bk.LL,P=214,1834,
127- 1bid, Bk.MM,P-101,1836.

128-1b1d, Bk .MM,P-175,1835,
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turned their horses into an oat field that he thinks might have made forty
bushels to the acre. They also took 25 bushels of clean wheat and a horse.
The claim was doniod.129

The tax returns for Fairfield District for 1822, showed Caleb Davis
as the owner of 150 acres of land. In 1829, he had four persons in his
houlohold.lao

Caleb Davis died intestate in Fairfield County. In his letter
requesting appointment as administrator of the estate of Caleb Davis, Jacob
Feaster states that Caleb Davis had died in March 1852:that he left a son
Martin Davis; a daughter Frances, wife of Biggers Mobley; and the children of
his deceased daughter Mary, wife of Levi Grubbs. The estate was worth about
$2000. The children of the deceased Mary Grubhs were: Francis,about 14 years
pld; John,about 11 years old;Alfred, about 8 years old; and Martin,about
6 years old, = It 18 not likely that this was the Caleb Davis who had
Seen service in the Revolutionary War, but was probably his son,.

Caleb Davis, on April 2,1823, sold Richard Elam two tracts of land for
$1000. This land was made up out 300 acres of land granted Jeremiah Davis,
deceased, and by his widow deeded to Stephen Davis, and then deeded to Caleb
Davis on February 16, 1815; and a second portion of this 300 acre tract that
lay on the northside of McClure Creek in Fairfield District, and lying on the
road to the Shallow Ford on Sandy River, William R.White,Nicholas Colvin and

132
Nicholas Colvin Jr. witnessed the deed.

129« Rev, War Records .,

130-Tax Returns for Dairfield and other Districts, 1822, McMaster, History of
Fairfield County,P=172,

131-F.P.C.,Apt.98, f1le 112, 1852.

132-r.p,3., Bk .EE,P=-170,1823,
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Caleb and Sarah Davis promised to pay Biggers R.Mobley $300 a year from the
date of the sale of a slave woman and her son John,on February 5,1827, A year
later, on January 7,1828, Caleb Davis and his wife Sarah sold Biggers R.
Mobley a 21 year old slave that Sarah had inherited from her grandfather
George Phillips (deceased) of Virginia. Caleb and Sarah Davis, Biggers Mobley
and wife Frances,Levi Grubbs and wife Mary, all heirs of Caleb Davis (Sr.?)
sold Thomas Mobley 172 acres of land for $2064,on November 29,1836,This was
the land where Caleb Davis lived and lay north of McClure Branch,Beaver Creek,
and was bound by the lands of Micajah Mobley, Isaac Coleman and James Feaster Sr.
It had been transferred from Stephen Davis to Caleb Davis. e

Although Caleb Davis had aquired land from the estate of Jeremiah
Davis through Stephen Davis,we do not known the relationship of these
Several Davises. Sgt., Jeremiah Davis ,Chester District, served 29 days during
1779 in Captain Anderson Thomas' Company during the Revolutionary War. Amos
Davis witnessed his request for payment of two pounds ,sterling for this
lcrvicc.lJa

DR. JAMES DAVIS, a physician of Columbia, S.C., made his will on
April 5, 1837, and it was proven on August 11,1838.David Johnson, Robert
Henry and David W.Johnson witnessed the will .He desired that his estate be
kept intact for the support of his wife and unmarried children,and for the
education of his sons James and Henry.His wife Catherine to have one-third

of the residue of his estate. His daughter Caroline, wife of Edward G.

Palmer;his daughter Penelope, wife of the Honorable William C.Prestom ;

133<F.D.B.Bk.1I,P=46;Bk MM, P=459,1836,

134« Rev, War Records,
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and his sons,William,James and Henry to receive the other two-thirds of his
estate ,His wife Catherine and his son~in-law Edward G.Palmer were named his
executrix and executor. In his probate papers,Jacob Geiger was paid $125 as
overseer;James Geiger was paid $150 for attending medical lectures(1842);
Henry Davis' tuition for college for 1842 was $25; James Davis was paid
$250 for attending medical lectures; Thomas Park was paid $25 for tuition
for H.(Henry) C.Davis.The warrant for the appraisement of his estate was issued
on December 22,1839, to Jesse DeBruhl, Jacob Geiger and David Johnson. In the
October 11,1839, accounting of his estate,he owed $33,555.68,and was owed
$3,252.86. At this time he was in the possession of the following property
in Richland District:33 slaves, ranging in value from $50 to $1000, for a total
value of $12,500; slaves at New Lands, Fairfield District valued at $21055;
and the Grimke' slaves valued at $15,765. At the time of his death,he owed
Mrs, Grimke'$11,900, John Kennedy, M.A.M. Leggo and James B.Coleman
appraised his Fairfield propcrty.135

An understanding of the extensive holdings of Dr, James Davis can be
appreciated when we consider a mortgage that he gave Sarah D.Grimke',
administratrix of the estate of Thomas Drayton,to secure the penal sum of
$23,800(actual sum of #11,900)due February 23, 1853, He gave as security
mortgages on 2600 acres of land made up out of tracts of land purchased
from the Commissioner-in-Equity,Fairfield District, and made up out of tracts
of Robert Cathcart, Isiah Neely, Samuel McCants,David Milling and Daniel Faust.

This land lay on Sawney Creek and Dutchman Creek and was known as New Lands:

——

135 R.W.B., Bk.K ,P=326,1838;R.P.C.,Box 7,Pkg. 155,1838
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bound by the lands of Edward G.Palmer, John Rosborough,Doctor Rosborough and
Samuel McCants. He also used as security 500 acres of land on Little and Big
Crane Creek, Broad River, Richland District: being the northern part of
1070 acres of land that he had bought from Samuel Guignaard,and bound by
the lands of Daniel Faust, James Boatwright, Robert Miller,Jacob Geiger and
his own land, This was the home place of Dr. James Davis and was known as
Eswaw, The mortgage to Sarah Grimke' was dated February 1, 1835, and was
witnessed by Robert Waddell, J.C.Phillips, and Patrick Doherty. Catherine
Davis signed the release of her dowry righcn.136
John Buchanan,Commissioner-in-Equity for Fairfie:d District , gave
Dr. James Davis, Columbia, title on 600 acres of land sold at public auction,
on January 1,1827, Dr., Davis' bid of $2953.90 was the highest and the titles
were dated July 4,1827, This land was sold as a result of an action brought
by Thomas Heath against Thomas T.Williamson and Aillery Williamson as
executor and executrix of the estate of Roling Williamson; against Phillip
Cook and his wife Jemima; and against James DuBose. The land lay on Dutchman
Creek and had been granted to Roling Williamson on August 6, 1792; bound at
the time of the original survey by the lands of Reuben Hall,Veal and othoro.137
Robert Cathcart sold Dr. James Davis, Columbia, 250 acres of land on
the headwaters of Cedar and Dutchman Creeks on August 6,1827, Robert Cathcart
had obtained this land, formerly the property of James DuBose, at a sheriff's
sale on February 10,1808, It was bound by the lands of Roling Williamson

138
(deceased) and David Milling (deceased) . Nancy Cathcart signed her release.

136.F.D.B. ,Bk.u,9451,1835.
137~ Ibid, Bk.HH,P-249,1827.
138-Ibid,  Bk.HH,P-375,1827.
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Isiah Neely,Fairfield District,on February 1,1829, sold Dr. James Davis,
Columbia, 11 acres of land that had been divided off from 40 acres that had
been granted Isiah Neely on the headwaters of Big Cedar Creck.139 Dr. James
Davis bought 1539 acres of land on Big and Little Sawney Creek from Daniel
Paust on January 22, 1831, This tract of land was made up out of three separate
tracts of 640 acres,each, that had been granted to Daniel Faust. This land
was bound on the south by the lands of Usuah Neely,southeast by Milling land,
and on the west by land whose owner was unknovn..lao David Milling sold (Dr.)
James Davis 370 acres of land in Fairfield District,on Sawney Creek and Wateree
River for $925, on June 3, 1833, The land was part of an original land grant
to David Milling, The deed was witnessed by Edward G.Palmer and John J.Woodward.
Jane W.Milling signed her rnlonn..lal

Dr. James Davis,Columbia, son of the elder Dr. James Davis;died intestate
and his brother Henry C.Davis applied for letters of administration on
December 20,1849(1848?). The handwritten will was made on April 19,1848,and
was proven on December 20,1848, The will did not name an executor. The slave
Gabriel and his family was left to his mother Catherine,and at her death to
his brother Henry, William C.Preston, Edward G.Palmer and Daniel Trezevant
witnessed the will.lbz

Henry Campbell Davis(Colonel Henry C.Davis) son of the elder Dr. James
Davis,was born on August 6, 1823, and died on August 27,1886. He was a member

of the South Carolina Legislature and the Secession Convention. He was a

139~ F.D.B.,Bk.11,P=76,1828,
140- 1bid, Bk.KK,P-111,1831,
141~ Ibid, Bk.LL,P-30,1833,

142~ R,P.C.,Box 41,Pkg. 1001,1848.
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Lieutenant Colonel in the 12th S.C.V.,C.S.A. On May 18,1848, he married
Isabella Harper Means,who was not quite eighteen years of age. She was born
on July 4, 1830 and died October 23,1871, Théir son Robert Means Davis was
born April 9,1849, and died March 13, 1904, His wife Sally LeConte was born
on November 11,1850 and died November 14,1915. Robert Means Davis was a
professor in the South Carolina College 1882 to 1904,

Henry C.Davis (Jr.) son of Isabella Means and Henry C.Davis, grandson
of Dr. James Davis (Sr,),was born September 15, 1857, and died on December 22,
1931. He graduated from West Point in 1883, and was a colonel in the U.S.Army.
He married Marianne Watson who was born on July 11, 1861,and died December 26,
1941,

Eloise Davis, daughter of Coclonel lenry C. and Isabella Means Davis,
was born December 10,1860,and died March 1,1957. She married William Herbert
Ruff, who was born February 3,1859, and died October 23, 1926.

Catherine Davis, daughter of Colonel Henry C. and Isabella Means Davis,
married Colonel David DuBose Gaillard, who was an engineer on the construction
of the Panama Canal.

James Quentin Davis, son of Henry C. and Isabella Means Davis,was a
Winnsboro Banker,

Edward William Davis, son of Dr. James Davis *Sr,) and Catherine Ross
Davis, was born May 17,1816, and died September 28,1870, He remained unmarrid

143
and was a school master,

143« Copied from the gravestones in St. Stephens Episcopal Churchyard,

Ridgeway, $.C, Bolicks,Fairfield Sketchbook, P36,
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A number of other Davis families will have to be considered separately
because they cannot be positively identified with the Davis families already
described.

John Davis died intestate in Richlamd District sometime just prior
to January 23, 1832, the date on which letters of administration were issued
to John Zeagler(sic) and William Gaffney. Dr. Joseph A.Reese had been his
physician and the estate owed him $20,Most of his indebtedness was to A.Marks,
who apparently ran a tavern., On August 12,1831, he had purchased sixteen
drinks for $1. His favorite drinks were toddys(sic) and honey drams. On April 9,
1831, he purchased ten gallons of NewOrleans whiskey, and some weeks later on
May 18,1831, he purchased another ten gallons. His coffin cost $7.00. No
heirs were nnm.d.la“

Mary Ann Williams Davis, Richland District, made her will on October 10,
1820, and it was proven on December 5, 1820, Margaret and Jane Snead witnessed
the will. Her property included a bed, bedstead, other furniture,two trunks
and a little lumber, which she left to Mary Shirley for taking care of hﬂ:.m5

Mary T.Davis, Richland County, made her will on July 1850 , and it was
proven on September 18,1852, She had for six years lived in the house of
Samuel T.Bailey and left all of her property to him, and in event of his
death, to his son Starr H.Bniloy.1“6

David Davis, Richland County, made his will on August 25, 1857, and it

was proven on January 11,1859, Foster Roberts, Arthur L.Davis and Samuel Dent

144= R.P.C.,Box 7,Pkg.156,1832.

145= Ibid, Box 7, Pkg. 157,1820.
146=Ibid, Box 41,Pkg. 1004,1852.
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were made his executors, His wife was named Harriet. He left legacies to
Elizabeth Watts, mother of his wife;to John Watts and his two daughters ,Mrs.
Susannah Ross and Marian Watts; a sofa to Elizabeth Jones, daughter of

Reuben Watts; and one dollar,each , to James Glaze, Allen Davis, David T.Davis,
and Phelby Roberts, wife of William T.Roberts. The rest of his estate he left
to his eldest son Arthur L.Davis, and to his daughter Mary Dow, wife of
Ardalson Dow and to her five children:David, Charity, Mary, Thomas and Martha,
His personal property was appraised as an old pine table worth fifty cents,

147
and an"old barouche body" worth seventy-five cents.

David T.Davis,,Richland County, made his will on July 16,1856, and it
was proven August 20,1861, He appears to have been the son of David and
Harriet Davis, and was left oue dollar by his father.His children In ocdet
of age were:Martha E.Thomas, Caroline T.C.Davis, David P.Davis,Sarah Rebecca
Davis,Arthur T.S.Davis,Maryann and James D.Davis, All of his property to
remain together for the use of his wife and his children remaining at home. e

Dr. John F.Davis was born January 13,1812, and died on November 6, 1861,
His wife Elizabeth was born on November 28,1826, and died on August 5, 1898,
They are buried in the churchyard of Monticello Methodist Church.lagr. John F.
Davis died intestate in Fairfield County. His administrative bond was for
930,000, and he was certainly a man of property. Letters of adminstration

were issued to his widow Elizabeth S.Davis and to her brother Joseph B.

Martin on March 3,1862 .During the year 1864, his administrators paid tuition

147-R.P.C. ,Box 41, Pkg. 1009,1859.
148~ Ibid,Box 41, Pkg. 1013, 1861,

149« Gravestones, Monticello Methodist Church.
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for the following children: Mary A.Davis, Sallie Davis, Clara Davis and Amos
Davic.lso

Dr. John F.Davis lived near Monticello and certainly bears a
relationship to the immigrant John Davis, but I am not certain of the
relationship.

Edward Davis made his will on May 14,1770, and it was probably proven
in 1786, His wife was named Nelly and he had the following children:Henson,
Rozure, Marion or Mason,Rachel and Ester. N.S.Robinson, Patrick McKain and
Jacob Holley witnessed the will.lsl

Another Edward Davis died about 1822, The admininistrative bond for
Moses Knighton was signed on November 11,1822, John Hall ,Mourning Fogg,Elijah
Holllo and John Hollis were his neighbors designated to appraise his eltatc.lsz

On December 31, 1785, Joseph Davis gave Rachel Davis ,mother of Edward
Carroll ,four cows and calves,20 pigs, one feather bed and furniture, &4 sheep,
8ix geese, and the furniture that Rachel Davis had in her possesion. Edward
Carroll to inherit after his mother, Daniel and Hannah Muse witnessed the deed.
Rachel Davis, Kershaw County, sold her son Edward Carroll, 50 acres of land
on Sawney Creek that had been purchased from Moses Ay-rl.ls3

Richard Davis made his will on May 4,1815, and it was proven on

154
June 22,1815, His wife was named Hannah but no children were named.

150«F.P.C.,Apt. 13, file 90(new),1861.

151- K.W.B., Vol, 1, wills not recorded,P=3
152- F.P.C., Apt. 14, file 132,1822,

153« F.D.B., Bk, A,Pp=47,168, 1785, 1792,

154~ K.W.B., Vol.1, wills not recorded,P-11,1815.



P-7% Chapter 2
North of the Broad River

Little Cedar Creek

Richard Davis promised to pay Wm,Beth and Co. the sum of 12 pounds,
15 shillings and 2 pence,sterling, from the date of January 12, 1795, He gave
as security a mortgage on his plantation of 115 acres on Shadrick Branch of
Broad Rivor.ls5

Abraham Davis sold Enoch Davis,April 24, 1800,for 24 pounds, a one eyed
seven year old mare, a sorrell (sic) mare named Felag, a black cow with a
swaller(sic) fork in each ear, two large puter(sic) dishes,a half dozen
puter (sic) plates ,and a cow with a "MM" crop in her right caru.lss

Manly Davis bought two lots in Rocky Mount,Fairfield District, from
James C.Robinson for $412,50,on Auguat 8,1828. The lots were formerly the
property of N.A.Edwards,and James C.Rob;;on bought them at a sheriff's
sale on April 15,1828, A few months later,on December 10,1828, Manly Davis
sold these lots to John M.Kee, Chesterville, for 3300.157

John W.Davis died intestate in Fairfield County. James F. Gamble,on
September 19,1844, petitioned the Court of Ordinary {or Fairfield for letters
of administration since John W.Davis owed him money. =

Henry M. Davis, Fairfield District made his will on September 2, 1841,
and it was proven on September 15,1841, He wanted his contract with Leah
Smith rescinded. He wanted his Negro girl Susan sold and replaced with another
girl. His wife Frances to inherit all of his estate and personal goods. John M,
Waring and M.A.M.Leggo were named his executors. John E.Robinson, William E.

159
Robinson and A.K.Craig witnessed the will,

155-F.D.B., Bk I,P-71,1795
156-Ibid, Bk.N,P-36,1800,
157-Ibid, Bk.II,Pp.144,148,1828.
158« F.P.C.,Apt .81, file 166,1844,

159« Ibid, Apt. 74,file 46, 1841,
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160
Christiana Rhister

On March 5, 1773, 100 acres of land was laid out for Christiana
Rhister north of Broad River,and on Little Cedar Creek:bound northeast on
Mark Davis and William Bell,east on Thomas Franks(Franklin?),southeast on
Christopher Davis, and on all other sides by vacant lnnd.161

By 1804, Christiana Rister was married to George Leightner(Leitner).
On January 27,1792, Christian Reister (Christiana Rhister?) witnessed the
deed when Christian Leitner, heir of Michael Leitner, sold John George
Freshley some land on Crooked Run Crook.162

The land of Christiana Rhister finally came into the hands of Jesse
Wirick through a purchase of land from Phillip D.Cooke on October 8,1832, and
a land grant made to him on July 18,1839, totalling 572 acres made up out of

163
vacant and abbandoned lands.

160- Also written as Rheuster, Reuster, and Rister.

161- C.P.,Vo1,20,P-128,1773,

162~ F.D.B,,Bk.P,P-27,1804; Bk.K,P=364, 1792.

163« F.D.B., Bk.KK,P-394,1832, S.P.,Index 2,Vol.52,P-304, 1839.
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The Robertson and Robinson Families

When the 572 acres of land was surveyed for Jesse Wirick on Little
Cedar Creek, July 18,1839, the land was bound to the north by the land of
William Robertson, on the east by the lands of William Robertson and B.H.
Robertson, southeast by the land of Catherine Gradick, and on the south
and southwest by the land of James Hchnco.l

On December 31, 1878, B.H.Robertson made a survey of the Gradick lands.
There were 1500 acres of land made up out of the following tracts: the home
place of 190 acres; the Taylor place of 245 acres; piney woods with 180
acres; Martin place of 110 acres; Jacob Wirick place of 250 acres;220 acres;
Cook place of 112 acres;01d Home Place of 258 acres. All of this land except
for the last two tracts lay northwest of Little Cedar Creek. This large body
of land was bound northeast by the land of I.S. (Isaac Smith) Chappell and
B.H.Robertson;on the east by the estate of D.(David) Gradick,Elias Gradick
and the Lowrance lands;on the south by the Metz lands;southwest by the land
of O.F.(Oscar Fitzland) Chappell; west by the lands of C.B.Lyles, Elizabeth
Wirick, R.T.Camak and A.G.Bookman; on the north by the Cook lands, lands of
T.C.Smith and others whose names could not be rund.z

This rather late plat serves to locate some of the Robertson lands
lying 1in proximity to Little Cedar Creek, and serves as a starting point for
the study of the Robertsons, although in earlier days, they owned land over

much of Fairfield County,

e

1-8.P.,Index 2,Vol,52,P-304,1839,

2= A copy of the original plat was owned by Lonnie Blume, a descendant of. the

Gradicks,
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The Robertsons
The brothers John and Alexander Robertson,with David McCreight, William

Hamilton,James Gray, and John Phillips, all elders and recently come from
Ireland, organized the Lebanon Presbyterian Church, with the Reverend John
Logue of Ireland or the Reverend John Simpson of Fishing Creek as the first
minister. The first meetings of the congregation were held in the home of
John Robertson. Later a log cabin church was built and the church transferred
to  the land of John Chlpnln.3A stone church was built and used for many

years, but abandoned and Lebanon Presbyterian Church now lies a short

distance away on Highway 34,

On September 1,1767, John and William Robertson, newly arzivod
protestants, applied for warrants of land survey on tha bounty.

JOHN ROBERTSON , brother of Alexander and probably of William and
Henry Robertson, died intestate in Fairfield County in late 1793. On
January 14, 1794, William Robertson and Robert Rabb signed the administrative
bond for Hannah and Thomas Robertson, Thomas Robertson gave William
Robertson and Robert Rabb a mortgage on several slaves to insure them against
possible loss as signers of the bond, Hannah and Thomas Robertson applied
for letters of administration on November 1,1793. The sale of the personal
goods of John Robertson, including ten slaves, netted 676 pounds, 14 shillings,
and 5 pence. Buying at the sale were his neighbors and kinfolk William
Robertson Sr,,William Robertson Jr., John Mickle, Bartlee Smyth, James

Kincaid, Thomas Bell, William McMories Sr., William McMorries Jr.,

3+ Howe, History of Presbyterian Church,Vol,I, Pp=415,416,

4= Revill,Lists of Protestant Immigrants, P=82
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James Nealy, Alexander Kincaid, William Hatcher, John May, Widow Woodward,
David McGraw, Thorp Parrott, William Hardage, Jacob Gibson, John Bell, and
John Wallace. Included in the perishable goods were fourteen bushels of
indigo lcodn.s

Hannah Robertson,widow of John Robertson, made her will on March 14,
1805, and it was proven on November 26,1810. She had been previously married
to Daniel Muse, and by him had a son Joseph Daniel Muse. By her husband
John Robertson, she had a son John Robertson. In her will, she forgave a
note for $194 due her by Joseph Woodward, and gave him a feather bed and other
furniture.She had sold Joseph Woodward her dowry third in the estate of
John Robertson for $300 on October 2,1804. This sale was for 174 acres
of land on Mill Creek. She gave her son Joseph Daniel Muse six slaves in
lieu of the legacy due him from his father Daniel Muse's estate and the
estate of his deceased sister Rebeccah Muse. To her son John Robertson,she
gave some slaves and a note from Thomas Robertson(his half brother) to be
applied to his schooling. John Mickle, Darling Jones and Benoni Robertson
were named her oxcccutorl.6

In accordance with a precept from John Thorp,DSG,dated November 4,
1766, 200 acres of land was laid out for John Robertson north of Broad
River, on Murley's Branch, The plat was certified by John Winn D.S. on
January 14,1767, John Robertson had 300 acres of land surveyed for him on

7
Lictle River by Minor Winn D.S., on May 26,1784,

5=F.P.C.,Apt.6,f1le 195, F.D.B., Bk L,P=10,1794.
6-F.W.B.,Vol,1,Bk,5,P-88,1810, F.D.B., Bk.G,P=58,1804,

7= C.P.,Vol,9,P-22,1767, S.P., Index 1,Vol.8q,P-11, 1784,
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On September 19,1777, Thomas Marple sold John Roberson (Robertson),
for 500 pounds, current lawful money, 100 acres of land on Little River
that had been granted to Thomas Marple on December 12, 1768; and a second
tract of 50 acres that Thomas Marple had bought from Elizabeth Austin on
January 15, 1774, Jacob Gibson and Ruth Smart witnessed the deed. On August 21,
1777, Thomas Woodward sold John Robertson 10 acres of land that lay between
their lines on Little River. This land was part of 794 acres that had been
granted Isaac Brecker,John Robertson sold Dudley Curry 139 acres of land,
originally granted John Robertson on Little River, for 100 pounds, sterling,

November 1790, This land was bound by the lands of Stephen Curry and Henry

Hunter, Barney Pope and Peter Curry witnessed the lalo.s

John Robertson, the immigrant (died 1793), had been married prior to
his marriage to Hannah, widow of Daniel Muse. It is quite probable that his
first wife was the daughter of Marcellus Littlejohn. This assumption has
proof in the will of Marcellus Littlejohn written on June 30, 1795, and
recorded on July 21,1796, Marcellus Littlejohn's wife was named Sarah,and
to her he left a glave named Poll and the use of his property during her
lifetime. He left half of his real and personal property to his grandchildren
Sarah Harrison and Mary Tyler. The remaining half he left to his grandchildren
Thomas Robertson, Mary Robertson,Ann Robertson,Elizabeth Robertson,Martha
Robertson and Samuel Robcrtoon.9

TPOMAS ROGSERTSON,probably the eldest son of the immigrant John

Robertson, had moved to York District prior to selling John Bell the

8-F.D.B, ,Bk.G,Pp71,77,1777; Bk.0,P=512,1790.

9- F.W.B,,Vol.l,Bk2,P=59,1796,
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one-eighth part of 300 acres of land that he had inherited from his father
John Robertson, for $112,50,in December 1806. Magtha and Samuel! Robertson,
daughter and son of John Robertson, brother and sister of Thomas Robertson,
had died prior to December 1,1806; on that date Thomas Robertson sold John
Bell 15 acres of land for $45, and representing his one-fifth share in the
estate of Martha and Samuel Robertson. On January 27,1797, Thomas Robertson
sold Edward Willingham 100 acres of land that he had inherited from
Samuel Littlejohn, and taken from the northeast corner of 640 acres granted
Samuel Littlejohn in 1785 or 1786.10

On February 10,1827, Thomas Robertson of York District sold William
Kincaid, Fairfield District, 50 acres of land on Mill Creek; being part of
200 acres that had been granted E.Austin on July 7, 1772, and representing
one moisty on the equal half of land whereon Msrcellus Littlejohn lived at the time
of his death, Rebeccah, wife of Thomas Robertson, signed her release.
Thomas Robertson, York District, Elizabeth Robertson,James Bryant,John Bell,
and William Robertson, Fairfield District, all heirs at law of John Robertson,
for and in the consideration of $22, sold George Ashford 47 acres of land

on Little River. This land was bound on the northeast by land of James

Ellfott, west by land of George Ashford,south and southwest by land of
11
Samuel Alston.

Thomas Robertson, son of the immigrant John Robertson,died in York

District His will made on August 4, 1847 was probated on August 9, 1849,

10- P.D.B., Bk.Q,P-224, 1806; Bk.Q.,P=226; Bk.R,P=98,1797.

11- ¥.D.B.,Bk.HH,P-321,1827; Bk.KK,P261, 1805.
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He left a wife Rebeccah,a daughter Rosinda R.Robertson and sons William L.
and Allan Robertson, B

HENRY ROBERTSON was a brother of John and Alexander Robertson. He

died in 1791, His will made on August 30,1791, was proven on September 20,
1791. He wanted half of his home place sold to pay his debts. The other half
of his 250 acre home place to be retained for the support of his wife and
children William, Hannah, Elizabeth, Mary and James. He appointed his brother

John his executor.Phillip Raiford ,George Harrison and Daniel Harrison

13
witnessed the will.

Elizabeth Robertson, widow of Henry Robertson,died in 1816. On December -
1816, James Robertson and William Airs(Ayers) applied for letters of
administration , Her chattel goods ware appraised by Thomas Lyles, Robert
Bell,James Owens, Elisha Owens and James Craig on December 16,1816. The
final settlement was made on December 17,1817, and $294.,47.3 was given to
each of the following: William Robertson, Hannah Harrison,Elizabeth
Williams ,Mary Airs(Ayers) and James llobcr:non.“

The 250 acre home place of Henry Robertson had been purchased from
Phillip Shaver on September 5,1783. This land had been granted to John Ard,
who had died without heirs in this country, and Phillip Shaver was acting
48 his agent. The land lay on the north side of Broad River. By 1814, Hannah

Harrison,already a widow, and during that year she sold her broth<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>